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New York, August ©9th, 1830, etc.
Indicted.for attempted extortlrn. e

Indictment filed July 15, 1930.

Appearance s:
For the People: V

ASST. DISTRICT ATTORNEY SAMUEL MARKEWICH.
. For the Defendant:

MARTIN BOURKE, ESQ.

Tried before HON, CEARLES C, NXOTT, JR., J., 3nd a

Jury.

A jury was duly impaneled and sworn.

. Mr. Markewich opened the case on behalf of the People.

Jares E. Lynch, :
Official Stenographer.
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{Address::3683 Broadway). TaES
‘ ‘ : I - 9T
DIRFCT EXANIVATION BY MR, VARFEWICH: © | V PR
* ' § ek A
. Q What is your business? A Talloring. | f,%kii

x Q Ouatom tailor? A Yes, sir. ' R

'@ Where ie yvour place of business? A 3683 Broadway.

Q Do you live at the saume premises? A DofI live in the

same prerises? . lb, sir,

Q@ Vhers do you live? A 161 Weit €0th street,

Q How long have you been in Euaineis at 3683 Broadway?
A .11v§ yearn; going on six. =

'Q Are you a married wan? A Yes, sir.

Q Have you any children? A Yes, sir.

Q How meny chiliren ﬁaVa yeu? A Two.

Q Do you know the defeninnt Lewis? A I never saw him

Q@ Befcre vhat? A Before he“antdredAmy store.

Q ¥heh was that? A Last zonth.

Q On the 8th day of July, 19207 A Yes, sir.
Q Vhat time of day was_it? A About sleven o‘?lock.' : 5,
eleven or twelve o'clock. | - B i'
. Q’ You-did not see hiw until that day? A No, air.'
Q W¥hat was the first thing he dil when he éntered your
' "ntoro? A Thy, I héd a conversation with Mr. Lewis beforo he i

| enfarad my store, in my nelghbor's store. That's the tine I ' J

4

-

-,

hix thare. about n auarter of an hour bafore.



Q About fifteen minutes before the datbndant ocame tnil
yaur ‘store? A !bo, I met nr. Lewis 1n my neighbor's ltozo.'lﬁ
a fur store. ' i g ;§ 

Q VWhat number on the avenue is that? A That is 3684 3
Broadway. There is two stores combined together.

Q VNow, what happoned when you got into your neighbor's
store, between the defendant and yourself, what conversation
took place? A I was ery busy cleaning up my place, on the
outside, on the window. I saw my neighbor and Mr. Lewis walk-
ing in and out, about the stors. I didn't know who MNr. Lewis
was. Then a little later I went in to buy some thinga of ny
friend, the furrior. and !r. Lewis started to oall me, He says,
*You come ovdr here; you come over here.,® I says, "What do you
wish, sir?" He says, "Never mind, come over here, what is your
name " I says, "What do you wish to kﬁow?'- *"Why," he says,
*I am a revenue agent and I want to know whether you paid your
. income ta&x or not," and at that tlge he pulled out,a badge out
of his pocket mnd he showed it to me. Ilays,_'!o; I have not

paid it." He asked me why I didn't. I told him because I was

a marriéd man with two children and I am entitled to twenty-four
hundred dollars a year and I am not making io much.

So then he says, "That has nothing to do ﬁith it, yod should
have made out one any way." I says, "I didn't know tha t."
Bo he says, "It's no use for me talking to you in somebody else's
plsco, a- long as you know who I am you better come in next door

and see me."% I said, "All right.*



| 80 about fifteen minites later he came in and he sat down :
af my desk. He sald to me, "So you did not make "out ony tpo-‘
tax?® I says, "No, sir, I did not." He said, "Well, why
didn't you?* I told him again the reason why I didn't. He i
oayi. "Well, I will see what I can do fﬁr you." I says, "Vell, : -‘Q}?ﬁ'
what can you do?" : | | | .3i*]ﬁ
€0 in the ﬁoanwhilo there was a couple of fellows around, | 5
a fellow by the name of Charlie Harris was arouﬁ? and another
fellow was around, and he says to me, "Vho are tﬁoy?' I eays
*0Oh, they are just friends of rine.," He says, "Go ahead and
get rid of them.” I snys, "All right, I will get rid of them."
So Mr, Harris went on the side, I have like a l1ittle parti-
tion over here (Indicating), and he went on the side, and the
other fellow walked out, and at the same time MNr. Lewis.started
in #alling to me and he says,_'ﬁell, for twenty dollars I will
: fii you up, the whole thing, that you would not have to pay no
income tax at all.f I.says, 'Wéll, that's too much money, 1
can't afford twenty dollars." ”H@ says, "Well, it's worth

twenty doliare,” but, he says, "I will do it for you fer ten

dollars."
.Then at the same time ny n«ighbor,'Mr. Jacche was in too.
I says, "By God, that man is demanding nrceney in a pecullar way."
- Q Vell, never rmind that. The deferdant 4id not hear thstf
A No.

Q You eaid something to Jacobe? Y:: I said to Jacobs,

*That man looks to me like a peculisr fel e
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. ter go in your store and call up the polioe gtation and fhl.nd
out if he is really the right man or not.®

So Mr. Jacobs did that. I told him, "All right, Mr. Lewis,

go ahead,.* He tooklout_aome kind of parer and started to write
oh it, all abcut the incone tax, asking me about my expenses.

He saye, "All right, I will fix it all up for you,® which he

did. He rade ne sign ny nare to it and he signed his name to

it, and by the time all these things were done, 1 decideq I wiil
give him the money, some marked rorey. I took.out a ten dollar
bili and i srote ny nare in very émall letteri;g on it. VWhile
he was husy flxiﬁ; up the pajer 1 went ﬁext door'dnd I found &
datective sergsant thare ani he asked me about it.

¥R, B UIaZE: I object t5 all this, y:ut Honor.
BY THE COURT: | |

Q Yes, do not stato what you said to others while the de-

vfendant wag not there.

BY ¥R, HARKVVICﬁ:

Q '%Well, then vou went in next door? A YesQ‘

Q‘ That was after you gave hirm thy ten dollars? A Before
I gave him the money, I found the drtective in theré. ;

Q Before you gave the dafend:nt Lewis the money you went
in to Jacobs' store and you fouﬁd'Dotective Love there? A I”
found Dotectivé Love there, I sroke a fe& minntes with him,

2 Do not tell us what you said to Love. You spoke to

Love? A Yes, sir.

Q{ Well, nivbr mind that. A So I told Jacobs, .!‘; '.115[5 ;f




Nr. Lewis the teh dollars in front of Mr. Jacobs lnd;lk. Harris,
and I told him, "I am all through with the income tax?® He

says, "Poeitively, that is all you»wiil have to pay and you wtli

not have any income tax."™ Then he walked into Mr. Jacobs' store

to get money oftvhtm; end he got arrested. |

Q BNow, at the time the defendant demanded the money from
you, were you in fear of trouble from the United States Govern-
ment because you did not file a report? A Yes, sir, he says:
if I ar not going to straighten it up he will mske it very hot
' for me.
BY THE COURT: .

Q .Did he say what he would do? A  No, sir.

Q He eﬁid he would make it I@t for you? A He said he
would mke it vary hot for nme.
BY MR. MARFEWICH:

'Q And did he tell you who he was? A ¥hy, he said h’ WaE
a Government man,'a Federal agent, and he showed nd_thé badge,
which ;fterw#rds was disocovered in the police atation -

Q@  Did you nee the badgo later? A Later in the police
ntatlon I saw the same badge.

Q What was marked on the tadge? A It said, 'Dbpnty
Sheriff, Richmond County. 1815."

MR, BOUREE: I object and ask to strike that out;
Thg badge itself is the best evidence. :

-THE COURT: Yes, the badge may be produced.

v

Q Then you went back to your store? A Yes, and I handed
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MR, MARREWIOH: Vell, that is all, you may oross—
o:.tnh.

’ CROBS-TXAWINATION BY NR. BOURKE: e
Q@ You say you were in business there for how long, Mr. ' ,f%
C Levin? A Five to eix years. P
| 2 .no you say ycu have never made & report to the Unitad : ;]

States Government of 2ny income tax? A I did not.
‘ Q Or ahy ¥ind of report in ragard to ycﬁf business or fh.
value or transacticns trerein?. A I don't understand you, sir.
Q (Queatfcr‘rmre°t%d by the stenogtapher), A No,’aii.
c Ahd you»have never rads any report ip any respect at
all to the United Statee Govﬁ:ncvnt, :gagectzng yor business oii
your parscnal income? A No, e2ir,
é Did you sign ary_rsrer that you say was filled up by
thie defendant tﬁ:t day? ) Yea, elr,
| Q2 Fow many rarers did you then sign? A One.
e Dis yéu.read thé paper.ovar be;nfe vou signed i1t A 1

Q You signed it without readigg oier any ;art'of 1t? A I

don't - T did, I would not recollect that, bat [ think I 4id
look at somethinz, I don't know what it wags, but any way, he
gigned his name to it, 30 I thought I would be all right as
leng 28 he signed his namre, that T will eign a2y name too.

Q@ Did he do the writing or filiing in of the bianks? A Yes,

he did it all himself.

2 Did he 4o such in your presence? A Yes, sir.
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‘ Q Did he talk with you sbout making or fuun; uy om
of these entries? A Certainly he did.
' Q And what he nnéd in was as you supposed the substance e ;.‘
of what yom hné just before that informed him of? A !ei. eir. e
i Butvyou did not teke the pains or precaution to read’
the paper o;ar at all? A No, sir, I did not.
BY THE COUHf:
Q@ Well, what did he eay while he was filling in thie pa-
per, what was the paper about? A The paper? o
Q What questicns did he ask you and what answers did
you give hin? A MNr. Lewii asked me how lndh business a month
I.am doing and how_ﬁuch~waq ry expenses, how much merchandise
I got. I told him all that, I gave him all the details about
it. |
BY ¥R, BOURKE:
Q@ Did he ask you anything about the incoue of your business
for the preceding year? A He asked re wyat_is.my income, whut‘
§ bus nesc I am doing on the month, I told him, but he never asked

me what incomé it is except by the income --

Q FNow, let us see. He asked you what‘yoﬁr business was by
the month? A V!el,' sir.

o And for the month then immediately preceding? A I don't
underst:nd you. That ie the question he asked me and that'a
what I answered him,

Q Did he ask you in regard to any one month, for inltlnoo.

e wsath of Jane, Juss before? A No seked e $hat guestion,



! told him I .nm shont $600 a -‘mﬁ. every -enﬁ. '1& s

summer and winter, &nd winter time it runs a 150820 more..

Q For how many months? A In winter I am a 1ittle -o:‘ :

~ busy fhnn summer tino, but the whole thing all the ;iy round,“ h <QQ#3:T
it is about the same thing, $600 a month. |

Q 'lbr the five or six yoqr;, was 1t? A No, here litely
it is better than it ever was bgfore.

Q _ﬁoll, about hov long had it béen? A About two years

Q At.the rate of §800 a month? A Yes, sir.

Q. Do you mean that that was your net incoxe or thé gross
sales? A The gross lales‘of all;

Q About how long & pericd of time uaé the Jefendant alto=-
gether in youi efore or place of business? A About two hours,
eir. |

Q Was thers any one elase there mlring that two honrl“be-
sides yourself and hiumself? A Yes, sir. ' |

Q And for how much of the two hours was there anybody else
there? A' Well, Mr. Harris was thers quite & while. Nr. Harris

was there for about nalf an hour and Mr, Jacbs, ay neighbor, was

right aldng with me mogt of the time.

Q Myr. Jacobs was there for mest of the time uud.lr. Harris
was fhere for half an hour? A Yes, Bir. |

Q Out of the entire two hours? A Yes, sir.

Q Were there any custoners coming in the store dnring
that time? A Yes. i
Q Did you serve customers during the time that they came

in? A Yes, they came in and out.
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Q Did you not read any one of the answers that the defend-

ant, as you say, wrote in upon that paper before you signed the s

paper? A No, sir.

Q And you told him that the income of your business for

~two years past was about $600 net per month? A No, sir.

Q Gross per month? A Yes, sir, that the expenses ought
to come off that, all the oxpan-el.

Q Did the dofondant ask you if you had made out an income

tax report at any time? A Yexn, -1f.

Q And what did you say tc him when he asked you that ques-
tion? A I told him I did not make any report out. _

Q Did he ask you if you had any books? A Any whuf, sir?

Q Books? A Any books, yes, sir, V

Q And did you have books of account.irelpeoting your busi-
ness? A Ko, sir.

Q Vhat did you say to him with respeot to books of ac-
count? A I told him I haven't got-no books of any kind.

Q Then what did-you shos to him, bills or statements or
+hat? A Nothing, just plain talk,

Q You just simply told him out of your mind these ngnr'l?
A Out of my mind what it 1is li‘e, beczuae I know what I an run-
ning. I ain't got nothlng. no .property of ;ny kind, just mak- |
ing a living just like any ordinary man. -

Q ‘And the figure. that you zave hiz out of your -1nd or

-onory. you say ho wrote down in the paper? A Yes, ®ir,

Q Was the defenisnt alone or was anybody with him? - A Whem




"‘hm uumnnn-ou n that time, but Mr. mmm
mn "ﬁ me.

Q No, I mean 'a,o the defendant alone or was he with .ny-‘

~ body else all this time? A All. by himself. .
o~ l to you . P _:-‘,';"’,“2{ 8
ot Q What did.ho say,with respect to his identity when he o Ay

first lpoko to you regarding the watter? A Regarding the nat-
ter, he says, why, I didn't make out any income tax,
| Q No, respecting his 1dextity,'what did he say to you? Did
he toll you who he was, and if so.uhat did he say to identify
_hlmcolf? A He showed me, the firset time he showed me that
badge, and a card of his, that was at Mr. Jacobs' store, that's
the first time when I met Mr. Lewis and he told me -- |
Q Just a moment, I show you that and ask you is .that the
card you say he showed to you? A That is the card he eliowed.
and a badge with it too. '
Q That is enough, that is a2n answer., I think, "Yes,” is
the answer? |

¥R. B5?RKR:” I ask to strike out the rest of 1t, and

I offer'the card in evidence.
¥R, MARYE¥ICH: I have no objection,
(It is Eafkad.nefandant's Fxhibit A in evidence).

.Q Would yeu remember the raper tnat you signed or a sim-
ilar parer if the same were nov to be shown‘you? A Yea,lsir;
I certainly would,’

Q I ask you if you rexerber that ag belng & paper or a

similar paper to on»e which you signed and which he showed you?
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. that's about ali.

" memory, that he wo& parzitted by the United States Government to

and I couldn't affar, nnybe there is 2 iittle lese & month or

. : A , | : ot R

v !Im-'&x_ 3 w# :-'A-n-

wr~

l I .m:ld thm that is ubout the same peper.
'Q And vhereabouts therson did you sign that paper? A I aid. |
Q I say where, juat look at the paper? A I signed it
right through here some place (Indicating). I don't remember ex-
actly where I signed, but'I tell you where it is. Detective ' ;ﬂ;'f
Bo;goant Love has a éo;y of it. ‘ i : 11'*'
Q WNever mind. Your answar 18 you do not just remember »
where you signed 1t, dbut it was a paper similar to that? A Bin-‘
ilar to that, ves.
Q You are not mistaken about 1t?7 A I woﬂldn't say sure

i1t is the sa-e, T wouldn't say that, but it was similar to that,

‘@ Diil the deféndant tell you when you told him you had

neither books, hille or staterments, but zimply depended upon

depend upon your recollection or eéttmation in regard to these
figures? " A I could not answer that question, because I am

just running, as I told yvou, about six hundred dollare & month,

a little over, but we were ; *Pirg aborut a 11tt1e over an aver-
age of {600 w nonth. e gsked ma about bocks and I told him I
had no bocke. :
4 Q  When tre papefuhad’bscn fillad out, and it vas filled
out wholly andlentirgly, as I understand you, by the defendant,
you 91gﬁed the papsz? A Yes, sir.

Q And he signed the parer? A‘ Yes, sir.

g, & Then what do you say took‘place with respect to givlng



. hnsa any trouble.
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him some '-ouy'?- A Because t'hbtf'vu. he is supposed

everything up for me, to make it according, that I -hould“not

Q@ Then you had no trouble in making out the pap&r. and be-

cauee he had filled it up for you you gave to him this money?

A That is rot, - I didn't give it to him for that. I gave him

the money that he srhould not zake any trouble for re.

Q@ How much money did you give him? A Ten dollars.
BY T™¥E CounT: |

2 Did you ses the paper again? A I saw the paper again,
yes, sir. |

Q. Has the offiocer got it? A The officer 18 risht here,
he »as ths parer too.
BY ¥R. POURZE: . |

j_ Did he ask you for ten dollars? A First he asked
for twenty. I told him I couldn't afford it. He says, "It is
worth twernty, I will toke taﬁ,' and I gave hin ten dollars.

Q bid he ask you for ths moneyrﬁefore the paper was {1illed

out or after? A He asked bdefors, I says I wouldn't give him

anything anptil the pa;ef wag filled out, and he was to take the

papers home ard fill thes cut, and I sajd that wouldn't do, I

'oaye, *You fill out the papers here.” He filled out the paper

ard th t's just tho time I went out te call the Polioce Depart- °
ment.
Q ¥rat was your reasen for ¢alling for the Tolice Depart-

pent, and moking the payrent of money te him for his kindness

v .
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on filling out your paper? A That was not kindness of him o

fill out my paper at ali. He was to make it easy for n‘;

otherwise he warned me, he will make it very strong for me, \ i * ;
Q And that for thie Sem of ten dsllaie Be wes making 1t i

easy for you? A Yes, sir, he was supposed to fix we up.

e

Q What did you expect then would happen to you if he did ] . oy
_not make it easy for yout A Ien; that io supposed to cover
tx;o. to be free from all the income tax. ‘

Q Then for the payment of ten dollars to 'thia ma.n'you
expected to be free of all income tax? A Yes, T didn't have
any income tax, the way I figured it ulp,. but I didn't want ﬁe
man to make a.nry trouble for me and I thomght I migﬁt' as well let
it go the way it is, that's all. '

Q Then, becsuss you had no income tax, because you knew’
you had to pay no income tax, but for fear you might have some
trouble over the income tax, that you did not owe 4nd did not
have to pay, you gave to him §107 A That he should relieve me
from all my tmublolis, a.n‘d whén 1 é&n him the money he told.u

"I am free from all income tax. Whatever he fixed up, that is-

’ his affair.
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Q xt never occurred to you at the time that if you ltl

?‘, .

gin him $10 to relieve you of all income tax, that you ﬂ‘ ﬁ‘

?

have to pay and which you did not owe, that you were paying
money without any foundation 'o:r.- reason? A Yesg sir. The way
he aa:fs I'was supposed to pay income tax, I was .suppo.o( o
make out 2 report and I didn't make out amy.
§ O, now, we are getting a little closer to it, I think. |
He said that you were forced %o malke out a report? A Vhether
I make any more roney or less morney I have to make out a rlp.i't ‘
enyway, and I tgld hi:na J didn't nake out any snd he says "Why
didn’t you?" Y told hii the reavon I didn't, becasuse I was a
married nen with twe children ard I an entitled to $2400 each
| year, ax;d T aven didn't .wke that nuche Me says "I have to
meke it out mwyway." Fe cays that's why he wanted $10, to
fix e up, that I wouldn't Lhave any troudble of eny kind, and T
am fre. frow all inconie tax. 1
Q You Te & -L"..‘r tat very -.;l-;'a'rl, und distinetly, don't
you? A Teg sirfe -

i Every #ovd o whet li¢ ald? A Thetever I told yu,

every word is truc.
0 Then you Go uot renanbay 3.»:.‘-1:.-;11:'.'-;’ that he said to you
that this resord wust bLe rade up Lecause 1t v;an a s0-called !
\ general schedule in Lue Denactavat of -iloijr;mrce {or the Cengus
last vear of maaufacturcers? A Bul I am not a ~anufacturer.

I am not Making anything Mea: I am just repairing and prud.ng.

o ey . ———



-.Q Onh, you are not a mamufscturer? A No sir.
Q And yet you filled out this report? A Well, I -
blind. I didn't know anything about his laws. The man come

) \ .wk’:;';: ;
in and told me the law and I go with him, I figure that is the : "._‘ff‘:-i.‘,:

Sei Ji
law, that's all. , A S
Q@ Let ne finish my questions A Yes sir.

-

BY Tis COURI:
Q i he say tluat your report was wanted for the census

or by the Revenue Lepariueant? A’_ 5o #ir, he told me it must g0

to tae Révenue Agente

. Q Did _;m say anytuing adout “he camsus? A To sir, npth-
~ing at alli aboui Lhe cGansus. |
BY MR. BOU=RKE:

Q Pur,mxis e telid ypu chat o yvou had filled out' an in-

oome tax report haeretorurs, Ait wou.d facilitato or make easjr
- $he preparation oi thi.s guneral schedule -‘ of the c'enuuq of }
wanuf agturers vi liast ycar? A L %old you I an not enough
educated to. understand tlese tlingse I never went to .clnoi
in ay life, I lknmow how to ’4 cad and write a 1ittle, but I don't
'Enow anytiing aboud thds. I couian't tel'.-- vou what it is if
he shu"’c.d. me anythings The wen suwowed me a badge, and I toock . ! L
hix as an agont Ato.:, I didn‘t m\uw} tho difference.

Q9 You can resunbes as I understand it, word for word,

whot thig aan said o you on this occesion? Now, I am asking

-

Y
you Lf hu did nol expiain to you shap this was a scheduls of

‘the census of janufacturers of last yoar? A Yo mre .

.

e e
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Q I thought you just sald - A (Interrupting) He satd |
this was just for my income tax, that's all. PRy

Q It took him two hours then to prep'ni-e itY AYou ulko‘ J» -f.‘«”:--f
» & -;‘*:?;;’ s
me for how long I saw lr. Lewis all the time. I told you two . : ..fl’
: i Bt “.:. ;f':b ;
hours. ¥For two hours he was at my place and in ry neighbor's NG

too,in my place he was only three-quarters of an hour.

Q f»’:’cll, you mew there was x.zo':a in ithis piper, didn't
you, taan the Sixmuie statenmmt that you had maé,'.:-}&oo a month
groes cul of your musiness for the two years past? A I
didn't know exactly, I couldn't swear to it; I didn't see any
. thing because i didn't read anything and he signed ite

Q@ Are you in the habit of Biming pupers-without reading
then? A "11' I wouid e a big merchant or manufacturer I woull.
‘be carerul, buﬁ this was different. I have nothing =0 nobody
can take an;,;"glu:;g Tron riee

@ Is 1t not @ Tact LAY this nan ggid to you that this
was a general schedule ¢I the scope 0f opermtions in your buni-‘

ness? A llo eire

Q And that the Govermuent ra:;ulre.d that that be filled
out, ‘,.:J«:r..-.er you gfer ‘;md paid a pémly of tax or not? A I
couldn’t answer ithat -:{\;L,st;.;m. liiu asxed e abhhut income t.-x
and he wrote ouﬁ the parer.

Q ‘J:!st a mouent. If you canmot answer, &0 not answer,
please- A ALl vight. |

& V¥hy cen you not uhuwor thie question, have.ybu not; under -
stood it, did you” aot hear? 4 I heard but I didn't understand

Al
v



minutes? A Yes, just some of it.

ask ne - thé only thing' after he sat down at ny desk,

Q@ Do you wish it read to you.from the stemographer's

Q (Quoestion repeated hy the stenographer.) A He !E; e

the agrecment to pay him $10, he sat down and gigned this 1}.‘

Vhat 1t wag I don't Xknow, when he got through he asked me to

sign 1t and I Aid. T said "Why don't you sign 1t?* He said *I

will sign my name too'f, and he did.

BY THE COURT:

alo ‘.h;ead, I dvy clean, and I do’ 21l kinds of patdhing but I don'§

uo

and preaessing.

Q Are you a neufacturer? A Mo sir, I am note.

) How big is your store? A Just about 14 or 15 feet.

Q@ Do you employ any help? A One man.

Q@ Do you prees and repair clothes? A I clean and repaly
any new work at all.
Re BOURKIS: ' _ ;

@ Your line of businese is what? A Cleaning, repairing

9 Tn cother words, the valet line.ie included im your

buginess? A Sir?

2 The valet 1line? A The valst systen, yes sire.

Q 2And while you claimed there Was no report that you had

to nake for menufacturing, becsuss you do mot manufecture, yet

you consentod to £il. out that paper? A Vell, because I don't

know the difference, w‘xmt.-it Wase



Q. B, having 1110 out this paper, ot mdqaiﬁ
nave to 11 1t out « A (Imterrwpting) I asdn’s MW 1. |

Q Let me finish, and though you knew that you did mot
~ have to pay any income tax, you them proceecded to give this ‘f

méney and proceeded %o have him arrested them? A Yo gir. I : “L )
gave him the money for the fact that he should not trouble me ?e
and he should not annpy me, that's why I gave him the momey. AL

Q Had you ever seen him before? A Sir?
Q Had you ever seen this man hefco? A Never ..hl.n
before. That's the first time I ever saw him in my life. ’
Q@ Your business is more largely that of a valet line,
isn't ﬁ, than of the making or altering or repairing of gar-
m_cnts? A Ho sir.. | | |
THE COURT: Well he has just said that.
THE WITHESS ‘(oontinuing):v Ve do everything. Ve do
'illet work, repairing work, pressing, cleaning work, but
I do nmot manufacture anything. I am not building up new
garnents.

Q Have you kept any hooks in your business since that

tine? A . No sire
Q 4And you have nevor in the five or nix yurs kopt my uﬂ
of 'uoukl? A Uo air.
- Q liow long, or is it your praclice tc;'keop the bills of
paid accounts? A The only thing I got iﬁ slips of papers
Vhen 2 boy delivers a thing I have slips of paper '-nd‘ I enter

in the Wok what people owe me, just the name and amounte
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Q ha-‘uputmqmnbﬁh A hvo!".il
4in bank?

Q Yes. A Just about $200. .
' = P st Bl BB
Q@ 4And you have a bank account or have had in the past «’_"%‘;h
y : . , e " ;?&h:’ ?
five or six years? A I got a bank acocount for about five :ﬁi
. 5 V'« P X
:?.,"I

years, four Or five yearse.

'Qr Vell, then you have a deposit bank book and a check
bank book, haven't you? A Yes sir.

Q@ Did you show tinle to this man? A lb sire.

Q You simply told him just out of your mind? A Yes sir.
Nre. Lewis asked me how mach money I got in the benk. I told
him what I‘ have in the bank, that is $200 I keep circulating
all the time from momth to month until I get my cultonqu Pay=
ing my billé againe | | |

@ Yow, you say this rian put you 1:'1.‘..!: Will you tell
ug how he put you in fear? Did he try to #strike you or what?
A Yo sir, he said he would make it very hot for me if I m
not going to settle with him, right in the store.

Q e said he would make it very hot for you? A That's

ti.e way he apressed himself.

Q@ Was that artervthé paper was wrilten out or before t}u
paper was writteh out? A 3Before the paper was ever iimd'.
before tlie paper was even Tilled out, I promised him §10. That's
the time he started to vake out the papers ‘

' Q He d4d not touch the paper until after he had a promise

of the $10? A Yes sir.



Q About what time au you give him the f0? a M”ﬁ'
norhmpoltnor 'm-rtorpmn, around that u-..!
_oonlln't say mctly

Q Did you take a receipt rnﬁ,hnn for th‘ mon ey? A Yo
sir, I did not. The reason vhy I didn't want to take sny recsdpt

Q No, T just asked you the question. That is alle.
'RE-DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MRe WARKEWICHS :

Q@ Vhere for the first time did you see ﬁhii card marked |
Defendant's Exhitit A? A This card I Saw, that Mr. Lewis pre- |
sented to me at Mr. ‘Jaoobs"atoro, tliat'ha was a revenue agent.

Q Did you read it? A Yo sire

Q You do nd_t ]mow,what that card contains? A 1o sir.

Q@ WHow, do ybu say - I show you thi. badge and ask ypu if
that is the badge that he axhibited to you'? A Yes sir, that's

the badge.

Q How did he show it to you? A In his hand like this
(indicating)y holding it in his hand, taking it out of his .

trousers pocket and sl_xowing 1t;‘ to me this way, and I took his

word for it, and he put it right back, end then afterwards he
showed ¢ this card.
Q When did you next see it? A The next I saw it 1n the
station house ‘whén they searchied him, thegy found it on hime
Q@ When Lhe was under érrest? A V¥lhen he was under arrest.
URe }mmél{: I offer this j.n evidence, your Honor.

Mle BOURKIE: Yo objection, your Honor.



the bill that you gave to the defendant? A Yes sir, there is

my signature right on 1t.. |
\ Q@ Your signature is on it? " A Yes sir, right on the bote |
tom (indicating)e.
Q When thq defendant was searched was this bill found in
lﬁa possession? A Yes sir. -
MR, MARKEWICH: I offer that in evidence.
MR. mURKE: Let me see that, please? N objo’ctiona
(It is marked People's Exhibit 2 in evidence.) |
Q@ Now, Levin, at the time tﬁnt the defendant told you tha
if you did not gi"'n hin money he would make it hot for you,
or words to thnf effect, were you afraid of trouble? A Well,
I didn't want to g0 under all these here inconveniences, you
see. I was afraid he can make trouble for me.
were ’

Q What trouble/jpu afraid he would make for you? A I

didn't know, because he stariod to talk to me, he talked to me

that way and I thought I would give him a couple of dollars.

Q What t.ro'ubl.e were you uf_raid of having? A He was to.
call up the income tax people and tell them tocome mund here
and haﬂ: me probably locked up or bomcthtng. I didn't knéw ihlt
was going to happen at the time. | '

Q And»yuu gave him that noney to awvoid tha't trouble? A
To avoid any of that trouble. That's what I gave it to him for.

'Q All right, that is all.



Q@ WVell, just a moment. You say u sash n“ and ‘.“‘,
A Yem sir. o _

Q@ And you say this man showed you that badge, which was 05 ' ,
later found upom his person, s badge which resds *Deputy Sheriff | -
Richmond Cos, N. Y., 787", that because he showed you a Deputy
Sheriff of Richmond County ﬁdge, tho ugh hc was an officer of |
the United States Governnment, yeou %modiatdy‘in fear? A
Vhy, I didn'f see Lthat _hadge_. He just liv-:plyﬁuhd it at me,
he didn't give me & look at it,

Q@ Oh, he could hnvve shown it to you nndAyou ould have
had nalf an hour to look at it, couldn't you?

‘ MR, HARKEWICH: I ohjedt to that, your Honors

A I didn't ask ’.*m.for ite He ﬁaﬂhﬂ-tﬁe badge to me
and he put it right in his pocket and pulled out the card.
He didn't let me read it. '

Q You could have asked him to read 1t?

MRe ?&ARK&WCﬁ: I object ‘to that as argll:xmtutiv‘c.

THE COURT: Yes, I suprose it will be conceded thit

' there was nothing to prevent him from askinge
Q Yes or ng, yvyou couid have rcad it? A Polsibly I oouldn
Q You coulci have a6 in your hsnds just as now, couldn't
you? | |
THE (30?.;'72‘1‘:‘ How can he tell whether he could or could
not? He dnes not know what the defendant vould have done. '

A He ﬁluheﬂ 1t 8t me ond then he put it right in his
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pocket arid I took it for granted. :
. Q You could have taken it from him and looked at it and -
read it, couwldn't you? | : : :

MR. MARKEWICH: I object to that as argunientative 30

8180 . ' gt

‘A How do I know he would give it to me?

Q You did not ask him for it? A I didn't ask him, ne
sire | He ﬁ-ahod it at me and he put it back in his pocket,
that's all.

Q And that satisfied you? A lo, that did not satisfy
me. After he put that badge in his pocket he showed me that
card with his pleture on it. That satisfied me them, them I
knew he was really a Governnent agent.

Q@ And then he imposed upon you by showing you nv Deputy
Sheriff's badge from Richmond County, New York? A I 'um't
know wry much of Deputy Sheriff or any other thing. Once he
showed me the badge I took it as granted thathe 1s one, that's

alle.

Q 'éll, you want us to believe that you were sinple euougk
to accept that badge as t".:m badrm nY & arfiocr ar' the United
States Government? ‘A .If I ho. looked at it I certainly would
know but I didn't b;k at it. I didn't have an opbortunity te
Book ok Ahe

Q Didn't he tell you it war ,pur own duty to ftll out
'tht schedule and ndt his duty . any officer of the Government?

A That's what he told me, but he was to straightem it wp for

L] ) M



HANEY

“ i ’no_,' that's ulv'ho_ nu.& it out for me. - 5 So—

' Q@ Then that ten dbl‘l.:r bill whlch later you gave to him 4
was supposed to straighten out everything at Y’..mmtgu and Q 4
New York and with him and with everyhody, was it? A That s 3ol
ten dollar bill I gave him was to square me up, free me from
@ll income tax, and nobody bother e any more., He m ‘sup -
poned to mail that and s uare me and everything up, that'l all
I know u'bout ite.

Q Thm after, or then the paper that you filled out or
that he filled out in ypur presence was correct and honest and
straiglt in regard to overy statement contained therein, was
1t? A Swioted to be, yess '

Q Andwith that papcr perhaps showing big money, taxes
owing t0 the United States Governuent, i;haf. teﬁ dollar was
to squelch everything? A Well, I dida't Imow how big it wmv'
be} or how 8: &1l 1t would be. I €ot nothing .to do with it. I :

gave 1t 0 hinm sluply to square 2¢ upe I didn't know about

body else's bu.sineaa..

Q 3But you cc...d us a while agp wu did not owe any tm-'
to the Goverm.xént and that you never did owe any taxes, didn't
you? A Yes zir, I did say that.

Q  And the: ﬁero*e.:cu did not owe any taxes, 'you gave that

: ‘tai dollar hill to thie nan9 A To avoid troubles

Q Because you vere i.n fear? A To awoid trouble, that's :

alle. : '

Q Did he offer any violence to you? A He told me if
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.l-pt piu t0 3116 him that money he would make 1§ very hot
for me. ? : | 5
Q Did he offer to strike you or assault or beat you? A r:
¥No sir, not strike :zze.' |
| Q@ Then t};a fear cane in your mind oﬁly by what mﬂ(
by him to you? A Yesg sir.

Q@ It was not because of a guilty conscience on ypur own
part, was it, that you were afraid? A MNo sir, I n not guilty
at all. ‘ | |

QR You are satisfied that you owe no income tax to. the
Government, are you? A I say so, I don't owe anything to tho
Govﬁrmumt( |

Q@ You are satisfied that you are not et fault in not hav-
ing filled out these papérl 'enrlicr, are you? A ﬁo pir, if I 3
owe f.}xe Governient I am willing to pay every nickd. I owe, but
once I find I don't have to pay, I don't know if I have to vor
not, but if 1 .do I fri.ll pay every nickel I owe the Covernment.

Q You are an honest nan then? A I certainly am.

Q ‘And that is he rvason you gave 10 to bribe an officer
o; the CGovernment  because you are an honest .nan, is 18? A M
is not for thn“t'. That is not to nake eny tror‘mle for ne, teo
avoid all xy trouble.

Q And that is the'.reaaon,' being an honest man, you gave
$10, irf you did not have to pay a cent inte an officer of the
Govemument, and you inmediately pro ceeded to have hin arrested?

A Do you think that I owe nn:,rthing to the Government? Why



badge whan he showed it to ynu?
MR, MARKEVICH: I objeot to than, your Phnor.
ﬂm COURT: Onjection suatained.

Q Do ypu know what happened to thae report th.gt wase au‘ J‘
out by him for you in your presenco thet day? A Vhat roport
was that? ' | ,
Q@ That paper, 40 you Incw what haprened to it? A I & :
note ’
BY THE COURT:
0 Did the officer take that from hin? A Yes sir, after
he searched him the cfficer took it from him. |
Q@ He took the paper? A ‘Yr.%s 8ir.
MR, VARFEVICH: T may coy thet the officer forgot to
bring it alonr but 14 will Le here within a sghort while.
¥Re BOUTFE: I think that is all with this witness.

HARRY H. JT2C0BS, callcd and duly sworn s & wit-

ness on behalf of the People, testified as 'fb‘llow'.:
Residence 12 West 103rd Strect. .
DIRECT EXANTWATION WY IM. MATRWICT:
Q 'hatia wour business, 1r, .Taco'bs?‘ A FPurricre.
Q Are you a dealer inr furs? A ¥No, just a t‘m'r.'lcr only.
Q Where 48 wour place of 'fmsim.aa? A 2684 Broadway. fo

Q You are @ nearb—door nedghbo » of Lcﬂn? A Yes .u-.
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of business? A Yes sir.

Q You remember having seen the defendant Lewis on that
day? A Yes gire |

Q 'hore? A At oy store.

Q@ Will you t.ll us what the dafn-zdant gaid to you? A

i
When he cane in he aa.‘d ha wes a Paderal agent. I asked 'hl.n 1
whether he was from the Excise tax, which we hagite pay 30 pew |
cent., Excise tax. o he says no, he hud nothing to do with .(

then, but about an ingpme taxe So I tald idm, or he asked me
whother I filed one. &0 I pays I did not. I told him I only
started in Ymsiness a%ut Geptamber and I didn't keep any hooh.

but I had bocks for the Fxcise tax, which T Lad t¢ pay to the

»

Govermn: ent , O per cante Laxe | . , e

- So et the time, the store was in a di;.crdarly condition,
they were fi:d"{*, the flocr, 80 1‘:.9 gave to me "Take one of your
letterheads and we willi ;¢ cutrside snd we.will fix 4t w% So

we vert 1o & saloovn end Loe ot dovn and after gitting svhile

and taiking, he sayg, he pullicd guvt w0 ¢ other papers of dif-

ferent ~i)er furriere tec, thet he geid te had streightened
neir work out ©oo snd e pzid ,;L‘a"-' the sum °of J20 he would fix
ne up ':‘s:f not fling the inconme tux., G I aaid‘to hMn I di‘dn b4 - ;
heve any nouoy at the 112 with re, thet the business was not

80 @ood right mow mmd I Pu.dn't pige Ivm any money, hecause I
,, i
kind of thwuht woething wae veong with the man for asking

poney, thot no ium weuld aek poini Llank for wonays



S0 when we got through I told him then I coul 't-'{“ AR

him any money at all there, S0 he says he would take a piece l'

‘—'-[ 'y
e,

fur instead for the work, instead of $20. So I told him I hm ‘»“" ’[ h
no fur here and no money here, and then we went back to the S
store. ’ i P

I told him when I got back to the store, I told him I
would not give him anything and he could dd a8 he pleased ihont
it, and call ,>the Income Tax Office, and at that Mr. Levin
came in and he tackled MNr. Levié.v

Q What did he say to Mr. Levin? A What is that?

Q What did Lewis say to Mr. Levin? A Well, he said teo
him "Did you file an income tax?" So he told him no and he told
rhim the reason why he didn't,-and he says "Well, of course, you
know you ought to file one", and that was all, then Hovvcnt |
next door;

Q@ Then he went next door? A TO his store.

Q The defendant went next door with Levin? A With Mr.

Levin after thnt;

Q@ When did you next see Levin or Lewis? A Well, I went
in tﬂe ﬁtore, I kept going in the store, and seen him fill out
this.

Q Whose store? A Mr, Levin's store, and saw him filli'
out this paper, and I called up for a detective at the time.

. Q@ You called f&r what? A I calléd up the Police Station
to get a detectivehere to find out. ‘

Q At whose store did you call up the Police Station? A '«
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ny store.
Q Who arrived? A Detective Love.
Q My, Iove? A MNr. IO'.. yves.

Q@ Now, how soon thereafter did you see Levin and Lewis? ‘
A Vell, tho— detective told me I had better go insjde snd be & |
| witness to the fact that he is giving him money. - :
MR, BOURKE: I object to what the detective Qd‘ to -
hime. | |
THE COURT: Yes, strike that out.

Q Do not tell us what the detective told you, but you
talked to Detective Iove and then you went into Levin's store?
A Yes. | ' |

Q What did you see in LMn'_l store? A I seen them
talking over this thing and fixing the paper up.

Q Then what foll:wod? A Then I finally seaw him take out

pr gt .

the money and pay him,/Air. Levin asked him whether this would

relieve him of all Obl;gationn to the Govermment regarding the

income tax. So he says "It positively does", see?
Q Then what happened? A Well, then he came into my .@.Q-...
because lr. Levine told him he had better go back to me and try
to fix me up too; and the detectives were tho:g.md thay got
him. :
- Q ‘Yes, that is all.
CROSS~EXAMIWATION BY MRe. mumm: '
Q Were you present, Mr. Harris, throughout all the pcrhl!

of time? A Mr, Jacobs I am.



Q Mr. Jacobs, are you? A Jacobs, yes. Se:
Q hnqh‘ut all the period of time that this m i

was f:liling out this paper for Levine, were you present? A ' o ot

i" .43' ?r >

sir, not all the time. | _ S B Lt
3 | | \ g kT

Q You were there for about how much of the time? A Weld, = -

I should say, well, I was in and out because I had to take care

of my store too, you see, and the boy had just gone for lunch,
then it was about noontime. :

. Q@ Were you there for one minute or one hour? A Well,
I should say I was there at least half an hour, at least, in
that store.

Q While this dnfendant wags filling out that paper and |
inquiring fron Levin, you were present? A Yes, part of the
questions, I heard hinm make, I heard a gnod nany of the ques=
tions hé asked him.

Q You did hear the quegtions? A Yes aire

Q More than one of them? A Yeg, more than one.

§ Questions in regard to the amount of income or the ampwr

.of sales, gross or net, whatever it was? A Yes sir.

Q You don't know that that is confidential information,
. ét which an officer of the United States Government should not
permit miou'taide'r like yourself to.‘bev preéont, do you? A |
Well, I don't kmow, nog I did not kmow ite.

Q He did not order you to step away or step‘ aside or go
out? A No sire.

Q@ And he permitted you to . be there for half @n hour's



H,M_A Yes sire . |
Q And :nti ovsrheard ahput bw nahy of thess m

uouanry to ﬁ:uont the paper? A VWell, I heard a good nw.

iR

I don't know just how many, I heard some. I couldn®t count ﬁ-%

Q /Mmd you heard these answers, did ybu? A Yes sir.

-Q Did you sec Levin sign the paper? A Yes sir.

0 Vefo you tﬁero for all of that? A All of chat, yes
sir.

'@ But what you nissed you do not Imow, I ll;lpm“? A
NA sire |

Q Did you see the badge exhibited? A Yes sir, he show-
ed 1t to me hefore he did to him. |

0 THe showed it to you before ha showed it to. Levine?
A Yes sire |

Q@ What did e say to Yu when he showed you the bulgi?
A He said to me "Here, look at that® and he held it in his
hend that way (indicating). That was in the salobn, and he
said *You don't have o worry, it's all right%.

Q@ You don't have to vrfmt? A Te worry, he paid "it's
all right".

Q@ Did he make any explanation about the badge at all
other than that? A No sir.

Q@ Did he say to you that that badge 'ho,d been found that

day by hime9 A XNo sir.
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‘ * mear your place of business, that it had :
picked up? A No, sir, '

'Q He did not say that? A No, sir.

Q He did not say anything like that at all? A Neo, sir. uif
Q He made no explanation as to how that Deputy Sheriff's ;i f{1{§yf

-

_badge ocame into his pussession? A No, sir.

Q Did you not know 1t was a Deputy Sheriff's badge of Rich-

wond County? A No, sir,

Q Can you reud and write? A Yes, a%r. " L

Q And you coudd read the figureo an&hgurda’upon that badge |
it iou looked at them? A Yea,.uxi, if I had & éood viéi_of ;t
I wéuld, yes, sir.

Q You did not ask him for agood view of it? A No, sir. ' '

Q Did he show you his ocard of identification from the Govern-
ment? A Yes, sir. |

Q" And did he show you one of these business scnbdulea of the
census of manufacturers? A No, sir.

| Q Simp1§ asked you about the income tax? A Yes, sir.

Q@ You did not know the man had nothing to do with the Income
Tsx’DJpaitmgnt, did you? A No, sir.

Q You never did know until now that he had nothiﬁg to do
with the I.cbns rﬁx'Deparsant, did you? A Well, I knew that
he had gfter he w#as arrested, I d#d.‘

Q But not until after he had been arrested? A No, sir. b

Q You never wet the m n befbré? A No, sir.

-

Q You never séw him since excepting under arrest? A No,



‘Q "You have your own place of business next door? A rob."

A About nine months now, ‘ , ~ ».;f ?F-;§?;
Q@ You were there fbr'g part of last year? A--Lﬂet yéar'ﬂrél!,_ f?vt'
about the fiftesnth of September. :
. Q Had you made any report? A Income Tax fepqrt?
4Q Yes. A No, sir.
Q@ Haa you wade any report to the census of manufacturers? A
No, sir.
Q And your line of business is that of furs? A Yes, manp-
facturing furs, yes.
Q The mﬁklng of furs? A Ycas, making of furs.
Q Have you aent‘ Oor made up any report to the United States
Government, that is, to the census of manufacturers? A No,
sir. i
MR. MARKEWICH: I object to that as immaterial.

THE COURT: I will allow it. He says no.

Q Did you Join in and assist either or both of them in the
filling out of this paper of Levin's? A  Nu, sir,
' Q And yet you sit besidﬂ them or you we;e withln heuring d;l-
tance, you say, for half an_hour?' A Yes, sir.
Q You were there when the ten dollars wus given to this lantv
A Yes, lir.'
Q Was it Levin's ten dollara? A Yes, sir.

Q And not your own? A No, sir.

L
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Q M you and Levin ialbd over the question of ten 1%
before? A ves, sir. |

Q Then you fixed it up between you that he should give ten

dollars %o this man? , Yes, sir. | | *’%f“i

ik Q You say he asked you for some money? A Yea; sir.‘ : | ‘; ;‘*‘:{i
Q And he asked you for twenty dollars s you 'sayr e Yes, : | L.‘g

sir. . : . 3 VI ‘

Q It waé going down now, wasn't it, the prico'.f A Wéll, that
was the price asked me. I .domt know anything about it.

Q 1 sup.pose by the time another man wuld have been asked
he ubuld ‘have goﬁ ﬁ: gratis, would he?

Objected to. Objection sustained.

Q ‘What did this man say when he was arrested? A He said
that, he absolgtely -Jenie;x' that he got the money. in the first
.pl'aoe, he denied he got any moneyv at all.

BY THE COURT: |

Q Whom did he suy that to? A To the detective and he said

he had not tiken any money at all, didn't have any money at all.

BY MR, BOURKE:

Q I thought you said you had seen the money h#ndad over to
him? A I did say I did, certainly I did.

Q And( yet you say that in your hearing he denied he had re-
ceived any nmoney? A vyes, sir.

Q Yet vou had seen it handed over? A Positively.

@ Where wis the money extructed from his person? A At my

place, in front of the detectives.
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Q In front of the detective in your store? A vyes, sir.

Q How far away is your store from Levin's? A Right next

door.

Q How long after he had come into your place was it ﬁ;tbro | f?if;;
he, under ar.reat, had been removed therefrom? A Well, it wasn™ : 'i'"_'f:".;'}_fr
very long, because the detective was right in the back room of -i >
place ready %o get him, so he came right out. Before he could
start to do anything with wme he had him. |

Q So the detective proceeded then and there to search him?

A He questioned him. I don't know whether he searched him. I
am not so sure of that.

Q I understood you to say that the ten dollars was extracted
from his person in your place of buuiheas? A Well, I believe it
was,

Q Well, a little while ago you were quite sure that it was,
weren't you? A Well, I will not say for certain now, but I b!—
lieve it was either there or in the station house, but he was ques~

tioned whether he gt the money, and he denied that he got the money

That is & positive faot.

Q Was the badge taken from his person in your place of busi~
mss? A Yés, it was npown - yes,'I believe it was.

Q Then the badge was extracted from his person while ho’yal
about fo be arrested, or under arrest in your place of budiness,
and you say first the ten dollars was takemn, and now you.say that

you are not quite sure whether it was or not, then? A What is

that again?
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Q I say, muuu-m % be sEvested o0 aomuyuofé
arrest, and in your place of business, you are uu-o that Deputy
Sheriff's badge was actually taken from his person, and in respect "
to tho- ten doliar-, first you thought it was taken from his person
in yo\ir place of business, ‘and now you are hot Quite sure? A Yes,
but I know it was shown there. I don't know whether it was taken.

I wuldn't say for sure, I don't know what way they do it, but I
know it was shown in my place, .

‘Q The ten dollars? A The ten dollars and the badge and the
e things too, that identification ¢ard was shown to the deteo- |
tive right there, right in front of me and two other pe®ple too.

Q Do you feel very kindly toward this man, 80 kindly, that
you would not do him injustice, don't you?r A I do.

MR, MARKEWICH: I object to -thdt, your Honor.
THE COURT: I will allow it.

Q Yes or no, please? A What is the question?

Q (Question repeatéd by the atonographer)? A No, I wouldn't

do him any injustice. ' ;

Q@ You have no feeling against him whatever? A No, sir,

absolutely.

/

Q You never saw him before this tr.as ction? A No, sir.
Q And for aught that you know, he is an honorable officer of
the government, aside from this incident here? A Thuat is true.



CHARLES llnnls.cauodanddnlynmulﬂi—
| ness on behalf of tho POOplo testifies as follows: i
(Residence: 1566 Fulton avenue, Bronx.) ‘f,f%;*f
DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. MARKEWICH: | o TRl
*) Hafria. what 1s your occupation? A I am associated in : "4"?
business with my father, in the haberdushery business, Broadway .
and One hundred and shird stroot.

Q Is that near tho place of buainoua ot the oouplninant
levin? A Yes, sir, next door.

Q On the eighth of July, 1930, were you in Levin's place .of
business? A  Yes, sir. |

Q What zime of day was it? A Along about twelve-thirty, T
believe.

Q Did you see the defendant Lewis there? A Yes, air,

Q Will you tell his Honor and the jury just what you have
seen and what you have heard in that place of business? A Yes,
sir. I walked in Mr. Levin's place about twelve-thirty to get
some of my clothes that were being repaired there. I seen Mr.

| Lewis sitting at the desk. He was writing out some rcpcrt of

someé kind, and Mr. Levin asked me to remain a while, that he
thought there was something superstitious about this particular
report. | '

Q You mean auporstitioui or suspicious? A Suspicious, I
mean to say, about that report he ia- #illing out, and Mr. Levin

went out and I reomained in the store with lir. Lewis, he oontxunod
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have a detective sent over, that ho didnot like the! ¢haracter ot

this particular party and the way he went about asking him for in- ;
~ formation in connection with the report. PO

Q Yes. A First of all, Mr. r,é-u', I believe, iaa‘und.r :
the influence of liduor at the tino, hardly ablﬁ to stand up. So
presently Mr. i.euxi came back and he z;.skod, or Mr. Lewis in my
presence demanded a certain sum of money, I believe about twenty
dollars, for which he promised ‘0' free yr. Levin of all obllgaticiu
in connection with the Federal and State Income Tax.

Finally Mr. Levin told him he o« uld not afford to pay him
twenty dollars and he agreed to accept ‘ten dollars. Mr. pevin
left the preguaoa for a wh11§ and he como. back presently with a

. i_ton dolla.r'. bill whioh I afterwards found he h . d marked, Before he
handed him the ten dollar bill he asked Mr. Lewis the following
question, he says "Now, £ I give you this ten dollars will that
relieve me of all obligation in comnection with she Pedersl sad

: 4/&450(/
State Income Tax?" He sa‘d "4ibsolutely." and he dhim the

tén dollars. :
Mr. Lewis left fhe premises and went next door %o Ihf. Jacobs"'
store. I followed him and Sergeant Df;tectlve Love had been sum-
moned frou the station house in the mean tims and Qas awaiting
him in the store. |
Q By the way, when the money waus passedover to Lewis, what

part of the store were you? A There was & slight partition in

*



the «.t;m.-m-.; hs't-un I was behind the plrtltion»aﬂ
ing up on a table thoro, overlooking Mr. Lewis' head.

Q. W0 apked you to get behind the partition? A Mr. L#vmn~t
agked me %0 witness the passing of the money.

Q You were not in thelrront.of the htore while this tnano;
action was going on? A. No; I was directly behind when.thn‘tran.- ; Ve
action was going on. There is an elevation in the back of tbﬂ | |

store with a partition, with a doorwuy, I sent directly behind

and stood on utuble and I could see everything going ong .

VQ When you e@ntered the ustore ygu found,Lewis in the front?
A Yes, sitting at the desk.

€ And you innd Levin there? A Yeas, aif.

Q Can you state in what d;rectlon Lewls was fackng whaﬁ yoﬁ
came in? A Well - | e

Q I.mean, wass he louking in your Airaction? B Eo} he wus
190k1ng down on the<auék, filling 6ut this pa ticular report in
‘queation. .

Q Well, anyeay you went behind the partition? A I stood

out in the front for a while and then Mr. Levin left the store,
Iguess with the intenthon of getting the ten dollar bili marked.
When he come back I stepped behind thevpaxtition because I under -
stood he wanted to hand him this money secretly, d0 Wr. Lewis
ahould not be alarwed, I suppose, I stood behind the pnrtition and
witnessed the transaction.

CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR, BOURKE:

Q -And this thing was all wvery secretly und surreptitiously
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Q You had arranged to hide youroolt bohlnd the partittcn l!d
see just what wus done in the matter of the -onoy? A There was
nothing prearranged at all. ?«:31\{'

Q Oh, you did not prearrange that thing with these pecple - u-*{}5
to go behind that partifion but just thought of that yourself and =
sent there? A When he come in und%ﬁn money, Levin gave
me the high sign. I suppose you call it that, to step behind there

Q What was the high sign he gave you? A Just motionad.if
was an optical sort of motion.

Q Had you ever seen this manlbafora? A No, sir.

] Hud.YOJ reason %0 believe he was other than an officer‘ot
the State Govénnment? A Yes, sir.

Q Of the United Stuﬁes Gevernment? A Yoa,yulr.

Q You had re:son to believe he wis other than an officer?

A Yes, sir.

Q What reauoh had you tb believe he was not an officer of

the Unltéd States Government? A For this rezson, - well, i did

'not have reason to doubt he was an officer in the United States

-Government but I had reascn to doubt -
Q Well, that answers my question.  You mean you had no reason
t0 doubt it, but believed he ;ue an officer of the United Stutes
2 Government? A  Why no, I did not.
Q Let us understand each other. Did you believe he was as
he reﬁresohxed himself to be, a representative or officer of the

Unit:d States Governﬁent? A Why, I don't know junt how he repre~
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| and when Mr. Levin went out I happened to glance over his -hould-r

" to get rid of him at the tiwe.

a G e Y i X 7 T e e e
5 ¥ _'J.'-&‘k,“ - A X . Al '.irf. e i S ." By

sented himself to be. But I come in et . Lewin told me :

he represented himself to be an agens of the Income Tax.auronu.

and looked at that report he was filling out.and I knew 1-.diatoly }5'5‘;5
that 1t was not an income tax blank he was fillins out.
Q Oh, then you knew that was not an income t:x blank? A

Ye-;

Q And Mr. Levin is your friend? A Yes, sir,
Q You did not tellyr. Levin ilzmediately that that paper
he wag tilling out #:8 not a report of income tax? T

told Mr. lLevin there wase 80meth1n° very smepicious about the
report he was filling out, that he had absclutely nothing to do
with the income tax. I told Mr. Levin not to give him ammy
information whatsoever i:: connection with his business.

Q ©Oh, you told Mr. Levin not %o give him any information in
connection with his business? A Yes, |

é Then iir. Levin proceeded to give him all the informstion

he could remember of7 A Yes, thavs the only thing yaiaould do

Q The o.ly thing he could do %o gi#e him information? A
Yes. | |
’ Q Then ke did not have to give him any ven doll&ré to get
rid of him? A Well, Mr. Lewis demanded 1t.
IObJectéd 0. Objectlon sustalned.

Q. How long were you in the premises of Mr. Levin? A A8 ac~



curately as.I can remember I think it was about half an

three~quarters of an hour at the most.

Q You heard the questions unawered? A Yes, sir. Fie
. - : . vitfth‘::g': l’“ «i
Q More than one? A Yes, sir. | !*gféu
‘ " =25 R Sl '_ Q“",
prn e - L ‘ﬁb'ﬁ;";
*Q You did not know it was against the rules or regulations SR

for information to be given in the preparagion of a report, to
an officer or representative of the Government, in tho.preaauco
of a third party, did you? A No, sir. ‘

Q Have you learned since that it ig against the rules md = |
regulagions? A No, sir. |

Q And you do not even know now tﬁaﬁ it is, I take it? A No, '
eir.

Q How did you come to enter into this transaction in the
first place? A Why, I ctepped in to get some clothes in Mr. Levid®
shop that were being repoirsd for me.

Q Hid you baen.in there esrlier that iay? A Ho,.air.

Q When had you been in tle place before that? A Well, a
‘oouple of days previous, Iguua:ig.

Q But not for two days had you been in until this occasion?

A Well, I wouldnt't say definitely because I ecan't reussuber aocur-‘
ately whether it wus a d;y previous or two uays previous.

Q You are a very ;ntimata:friend of Levin's? A I haﬁa known
him a great rmany yeurs.

Q You are a very intimate f{rlend of ir. Jagobs} ire'yoﬁ? | A
I am not very intimateo, I have Xnown nii?iana he has been up in .

that location.
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'Q Then a.utln-oo of you have knom exch other to: some ns-
tle time, myuy before this tra.nsaouon? A Yes, sir.
Q Had you seen the badge previous to this man's arrest, thlu /
gilﬁ badge? A No, sir. _ | ! ':‘1?-}~
Q You did not - ﬁhe gilt badge at ali that day until the | BRiogr g
time ~f the arrest? A Until he was arrested and searched at
the station house, thatts the first time I saw the badge.
Q ,Rs Yyou saw 1% in the station house for the first time?
A Yes, sir.
Q You did not see it in Jacobs' place of business? A No,
sir. That occurred before I got there. .
Q You say you saw‘the money passed over %o him? A Yea,'
sir.
Q How was it passed over to him? A Why, just handad diroctla
to him and he took 1t and crumpled it up andput it in his pookot..
0 what pocket did he put it in? A I cbn't remember, sir.
' Q He did not look at the momey, at all? A Did I?
<

Did he look at the money at all? A No, sir.

n Then so far as that is concerned he could not hafo told
whether it was a ten dollar bill or & hundred doll.r bill?
MR. MARKEWICH: I object to that as incompetent, your
Honor.
THE COURT: Yes, that cglla for the operation of some-
body else's mlnd.
£ Q When did you next see that money? A A% the etadism

house.
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BY THE COURT:

Q Did yoa hear the defendant say anything #bous it? A The
detbndant? Why, yes, after he left Mr. Levin's store ﬁo ions in- E'gﬁ ;v‘
tp the furrierws shop, Mr. Jacobs' shop next door,and I went in 5% :
after him and everybody else, and Sergeant Detective Lové was in “ -
there w#aiting for him. So Sergesant-Detective Love usked him
who he was, what he wus doing. He suld he was a special agent of
the Government. Sergaunt-netactivelbove asked him 1f there was
any identification he had on him 80 he ashowed ﬁln an idontifica-
tion card whth hiq plcture on; Sergeant-Deteciive Love asked
‘him w:s he to collect any money in connection with these reports
and he said no. He sdid "Did you collect any monnf?i ﬁb sald,
"No." Mr. Levin then jumped up and said "Why, I just guve him
ten dollars." So Sergeant-Detective Love $ook him to the station
house and then he foundAon him the shield and the i@lentification
card and the marked bill,

BY THE COURT:

Q "Did he say anything about the shield at the time? J KO,

gir, not that I rememober.
EY MR. BOUHKF;:
Setgﬁgg wis this conversation? A Detective Love and Mr.
- Lewis.
Q Then the statement was muie fhat this money was given for
services inmaking wut or filiing out the report? A That ise dbgt
Mr. Lewis opntéhdsd, &oa. air;

QO Not for any fear or intimidation} but because ofhig ser—
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' vzo.t il t&llxng out the report for this -nn. who |h§u1¢fﬁi§.¢
filled out his own roport? K rhat was Mr. Lewias! oantcntlen»
yes, sir. |

Q And he sald that then and there, that swme dayy A Yés,

C sir,
Q He said that in the station house? A  Yes, sir.
Q uYeS, that is all,
STEPHEN L OV E , 523nd Precinct Detective Division, cal-f

led and duly sworn as & witness on behalf of the §00p19 testified
as follows: :
DIRECT EX'MINATION BY MR. KARKEWICH:
sziuar, how long are you connected with the “olice Depart-
ment of this City? A Going on fifteen years.
Q Connected with the Detective granch ‘of the Depdrt.nt ‘how
long 7 A Six yOars. |
Q.. On the eighth of July, 1930, did you reoeive'u telephonlc

conmunication from semeone? A I did.

Q Pursuant to that té)p phonic couunication, did you gb to
the premises 3684 Broudway? A I did. |

é Whom did you seé¢ whén you entered the'premiuea? A I saw
the mah who occupies a fur snop'there; | |

Q MTe Jaooba!: A Nr. Jacoba, yes, sir.

] Ana after having had a oonveraution with Juoobu,what did

you do? , Jacobs told me thut--
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after you had a conversation withJacoba? A I did.

'Q A short whille thereafter did Levin come into the store? .

The tailor? ""..v "'
Q@ Yes. A yes, sir. o -&3};@‘

‘ ‘ Ry v

Q Did you have « talk with Levin? A I did. - | 'E*ﬂ%ﬁ

'Q After you had a talk with Levin what did Levin do? A Levin
left the furcier's premisea. |
Q Did he a short time there after return to the furrier's

store? ‘A He did.

Q Did you see the defendant Lewis in the furrier's store? A

g

7 did.
% Q Did he come in zlone or did he ‘oomovin accompan.ed bj mn—
one? A He cémn.in alQne, followed by Lévin.
Q - Anybody else? A And Harris.
Q What did you say to the defendant Lewis when he entered th.‘;,.{"
furrier's shop? A I uaged LQ-& is if he was an officer of the Go '
ment. He said he wus., I uaked‘v if he had any idantif:l'oation on hd.l":

: =
He said yes, and he showed me a ocard.

Q 1Is this the card (Inilcating Defendant's Exhibit A)? A Yes,
sir, that is the card.

Q Yes. A I askerd him if he wis an off.lc@:r of the Internal
Revenue and if he had anything to do with the collection of Revenue
or taxes, inoGmea " He said he did not.. I asked him wat his duties -

_. said he ‘
were and he,was connected with the Census Bureau, Department of

Counerce.
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'Q Yes. A That he filled out an application blank, sort Bt
of a maunufacturers census. I ’ash;ad him 1f he collected any fees ‘
there. ;

'Q By the way, did you see that application blank? A I
aid.
Q Where is that now? A I believe it was in the office. Thﬁ ;
have not succeeded in finding it up there,
Q Did you recelve that blank from the defendant? A I did.
Q I show you this blank and ask you 1f it was & blank similar
Ato thias? A Yes, it was a blank similar to tha.t.r |
Q Signed by the complainant Levin? A I think his name was
there. _
MR. MARKEWICH: If comsel has no objection, I will of-
fer this in evidenceinstead. . '
MR. BOURKE: I have no objegtion.
(Marked People's Exhibit 3 in evidence.) ‘
'Q Now, what followed? A I asked the defendant if he col-

lected any fees for making out this form and he said no,

BY THE COURT: . .
Q You asked whom? A The defendant, and he said no, he did
not. I u;m himiin thia case he had received any -dnny from Levh,
the tailor and he said he did not. Bevin spoke up then saying
~that he had given him ten dollars with his name signed.to it.
BY MR, MARKEWICH:
| Q2 Yes. A I placed the defendant underarreast then, and in

company d th Levin, Harris and Jacobs, went %o the 33nd Precinct



Station House. 1 loarch.d the defendant there and )punn.u ten
dollar bill, which was identified by Levin. |

Q 1Is this the ten dollar bill (indicating, People’s’ Exhibis
'2.)1 A Yes, sir. It was identified by Levin, and also & Deputy- e
Sheriff's shield of Richmond County. _

Q Is this the shield (indicating People's Exhibit l)?' A !ol,A
found in his pockes.

Q Did you have any further conversation with the defendant
that you recall? A Nothing that I can recall now,
_ CROSS EXAMINATION BY MR. BOURKE:

Q 'l'ho money was not produced until the stution house was
reached, is that right? A That's right.

Q And did y.u actually fish into h;s clothing to get it or
did he offer the money %o you? A I searched him and took it ou
of his pocket.

Q  You took the moneyout of hie pocket, and that is the bill
you took out of his pocket? A Yes, sir.

Q Do you remeuber {vhst pocket you took it out of? A What

is that?

o Do you remember what pocket you took it out of? A Why, I
bolieve it was the right trousers pocket. -

n Then there was no search, officer, of this datondant at
. Levin's or Jacobs' place of business? A No, sir.
Q .And the pearch, aelurohirg if thgre was an.y, ‘was in the
 station house alone? A He was searched in the station house.

' Q Did the defendant from the time you first saw him and until



lﬁ after yeu ph&ood hh under arroit. offer any :oui-m

‘ever to you? A No resistence, no, sir.

stood it was a tip for making out this form to the Department of

——
[ —

Q He went with -you willingly? A Yes.
Q Did he make any stutement or explanation to you then at F ;

the store or on the way to the station house or at the station :

‘house, in your hearing and in your presencéd? A He did say in

the office, the detectives o_fﬁce at the atat:\.oxi house, that he
had received the money s a tip. He said he thought it was a
tip whbn he received the money, the ten dollars, |
Q Did he say he received ten dollars or did he say he receiv=
ed the money? I want the éxact phrase according to your best rcoo

lection? A He said the tailor handed him ten dollars and he unders

Commerce.

Q You think that he sald "Ten dollare®? & vyes.

Q‘ That is yourrecollection; but you are sure that he did
say it was given %o -hiu' as a tip? A Yes.

Q Meaning a gift or award for serviceg?

MR. MARKEWICH: I object to that, your Honor.
THE COURT: Yes, that is for the jury .to say.

Q Had you ever éeen the defendant before that day? A NoO, '

sir.
Q I think that 1s all.

UR. UMARKEWICH: That is all, That is the People's

‘

case, your Honor.

MR. BOURKE: I ask for & dismissal of the indlotment, sl \



- %$ip for services performed.

_fioient thnf anyone who can read English at all can see it

.gentative of the United States Goveruuent.

may it please the Court, upon the ground that under Section  "

860 of the Penal Law of this State, which reads "Extortion

is tho obtaining of prOpertj rrbm another, with his con- : E&iz
sent , 1n@noed by a wrongful‘uee'ot force or ﬁaagf under color {
of official right, * - because there has been no competent |
and sufficient evidence whereby it can be proven or demon-
gtrated that this dc!ondant; under color of official right,
obtained this money , even conceding that this money was

given, otherwise than as he is claimed to have asserted, a

In the first place, this badge, upon its very facesw suf-
has nothing to do with the United Statcs Government, is
a badge probably belonging to somebody who wﬂs a Deputy-Sheri&fd

of Richmond County, New York, and not:to an officer or repre=

There is, then, nothing to ostablish in the People's

case that the badge, such as that, establishes color of

official right of authority. There has been nothing, further-
e established, showing that the acceptance of money, which
by the atatéﬁant of the last witness upon the stand, was as—.
serted vy this defendant to have been g.ven to hiq as a tip,

was extorted unier fear and under color of official right.
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It 18 mﬂut to thc Court that thie defcndnnt had
'no authority to SXWES OF 90 Peoeive money from a party
8l tuated as ocomplaining witness is in thie oa.c;»that
his duty, if lt'appearn at all from the svidence, ias
sirply to round up those, what I may be privileged to
call tax slackers or tax dodgers or tax shirkers, and
that if hs preparc=d at the reguest of the oompiaining vit-
nes® this paper, or assiétéd him in its preparation, there
is in that regpect ne certainty and no rroof auffioientvto
hold him, that that was extorted under the exercise or

under the misuse of cofficial right.

-

For that reason I do not believe that the gravamen of

the charge as set forth in the indicta=nt againat this de=
fendant has veen aufflq;ently and comgpetently provdd by
the witneeses presented and the testisony offered in ;hetr
bahkalf, and I tu.;nyr“ asl for a disnmissal of the 1nd10t-
ment upodOn that ground.
| THE CCURT: Motion deuied and you have an éxo;ptloh,
32, BOURY¥E: TYeu, your Honcr grantis ae 1n;cxoo;tion;
My, Bourke then opene: the oagze on'oehalf qf thd-dé-
fense, | |

THE DEVENSE,

FRAXN C1S8 Lie LE " 168, the sefendant, called and duly

BWOIT a% & sliness on bshall of the deflense, tedtifled as
follows:

(Residence: 159 Fest 37th atreet).

£
SO .
T
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i
i
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HOERED |



DIRECT EXAMINATION BY WR. BOURKE:

Q Mr. Lewis, do you remember on the 8th day of July of tnﬁ—w:-

year, ohtoriog the place of business of this man Levin, who. was
on the stand & little earlier to-day, and talking with him re-
cpoctiog the prepcratién of a general schedule of his business
for the United States Census of Manufacturers last year? A I
do. | ' |

Q Were you on that occasion and that day a representative
or officer of the United States Government? A I was.

Q And as such officer did you have or'did you ever h;v!;
. or did you ever have the right tc possess apd have a btdgn of
your aufhgrtty? A ‘No‘\

Q I show to you ihln gilt vadge and ask you if you ever
saw that before (Indicating People's Exhibit 1)7 A -On the
'Bth day of July. | |

Q . Answer- yes or no, did you see it befqre? A Yes, not
. before the Sth.

Q Under what circumstances did that badge which is an eX-
hibit in the People's case, coue into your possession? A I found

it in the mud gutter on the corner of 10cnd sireet and-Broadlsy,'
‘and had not had 1t”in my posgession abre than five minutes be-
fore I showed it tovlr[ Jacobs in & sort of accidental yayf

Q Mr; Jaoobs’waa one of the witnessees, but . not the com-

s plaining witness herein? A FNo, sBir.
Q You showed that to Mr. Jacoba?’ Did you say anything

to him in respect to your ‘ossesgion of it? A T had the badge

ERRE!
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in my oéat pock‘t with my cigarettes, and in taking oht zy cig-
arettes I drew the badge out with thenm.

Q Talk loud so that these goﬁtlemon can hear yqu? A I had ;**}1f‘“
it in my hand and I said, "I just picked this up & few mimutes : 'Q;,
agb,'lﬂwonder who has been using that around here, or lost it." | 4
I believe those are the words I uuod. that w=s all.

Q Now, d;d you show that badge to Levin, the‘oomplaining-
witness herein that day, and in the course of your talk or con-
v;ftation with him? A 1 d1d not. . ”

Q lo;o you in conversstion with him for a period of ap-
proximately two hours that day? A Well, during the time I was
in hie place of buuiness and also in Mr., Jacobs' place of busi-
ness, I presume 1t did take up about two hours.of time, yes, oir,

Q, NOW,“what did you say when you went into Levin's plqbb
of busineoi or first spoke. to him respecting this matter, and
what did he say to you? State, will you please, as best your

recollection will serve, the conversation ocourring between you

and him, so that the Court and jury may all hear you? A He

asked me who I was, I immediately showed him my identification
card and a blank copy of-the general schedule for the cen-ﬁl*
of manufacturers. I asked him if he had ever filled oﬁt one
of them or had one filled out for his business report, and he
said "No." I said, "Did you make out an income tax report for
the year 19191* He says, "I did not.," I eald, "Well, you
saved $30 or $35 by not doing so, dign't you?® I said that

more in & joking way than any other way. He said, "Now, how do
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you mean I saved $30 or §35?" I said, "It would have cost you
at least thst amount to have an income tax report made out for
you by an accountant, which I presume you would have had to ‘ éhif'”g
employ.® I presumed or I did not think the man wmould be able £ f,ﬁ;
to make it out himeelf. That is ;n thers was sald or men- |
tioned regarding noney. | fr, “ 7
Then he gishoed over this repo:t; xy report, or at least
the Government report which I was supposed to see was filled
cut and he said "I don't understani this at all,® '-Weil.' 1
snld, "ycu are suppozed to notify, all'manufacture:a are supposed
to f1il this cut, and either deliver to an agent wien hs calle
for it upon you, or mall it to our office. In casze that is
not couplete 6r it has not been fllled ous curroctly;'ie call
upon you to obtain the necessary 1n:orpation or rissing inform-
ation, cr cortect an incorrsct schedule."
ThenmI &z od hiw if he kept booka and he 'sald "No." I said
"Have you any bills or stutements or accounts of Any xind which .

would show how much material you had vpought and used during the

year of 15187 He 3=2id, "1 hav> éothing vhatsoever in tho
way of bocks or reccrds.” '?ell,' I sald, "this is a very
complicated schedule to maks out, and 1f I leave it with yocu
to fill it I feel éurﬁ that when I call for it again 1t will
not be filled out correctly, =0 that if you will.nct take up
too much of ey time I will trj and filil it ocut for you, and
aocept your estinated figures of your busiress” - which we ars

suthorised by the Government to do., If we are satisfied in our
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minde that a man does not keep books or repoxd'.~§u'¢r§Adll‘oa¥
ised to accept his eltinateqtiguréi; So then I sat down with
Mr. Levin and had quite a talk, and in obtaining information, ,~h%2 »
even though they were only estimated figures, he would give me | '7ﬁ€§%ﬁ
- figures that, we might find dia not 3ibe. For instance, he ook

t0ld me that he bought more raterial than he sold, or at least
that he used in repalring, that he chtalred incore for in using
for repair work or in manufacturing nev garmsnts, So I hsd‘
quite a time with hiw in gettinz p half way report or a report
I might say. that looked half way reasorable %o ne,

w Howevar, T finally did complete the rerort, and while I was
finishinz it; raking out h*s~report, hc‘gbf np fror his chair
.and I nresured, as he says, went into ¥r. Jacobs® store, I
made up or finished malking up @my repcrt and had him aign 1it,
put t'e report in with the rest of_wine in vy envelope, and
he handed me a bill wﬁich I accepted as a grataity, for spend-
inzg at least five times As nuch time 4n his rlace as we gener-

ally d4o. By staying 86 lcng at one place we were compelled to

either work at night or on Sundays, or work cvertime in orger
to tum in cus syncifieéuacuntof work which the Govermnment re-
quira4d us to 0.

'q Yes? A If I scend twe hours in a man's nlagcae it would
ne doubt cause ne %o work either that night cx the néxt night,
or any way, in order t turn in zy epecifled nuuwber of sched-
ulas that the Govarnnant requir&dAcf vs, which was four CORe

pleie schedules a day. The genexal tiwe of wmaking qut A ncgnd-



!i. ir é‘nnn'hadva-oompleta set of bdoks or had his afpfonontl,
or hal a copy of his income tax report, woﬁld be about tiftoqn
minutes. The resson for my asking for a cory of the income .
yeport wes because that report contains ab-ut 75 per cent., of | f fﬁ@ﬁff
the»intormation that ie required on the‘cen-us of Manufactur-
ers' reycrt, and we“merely have té copy or our report the fig=-
ures frov the incoue tax report. It saved the time it would
probably take to go through the booke again to ascertain the
amcﬁnt of material that he bought during the year, his total
éaieh during the year, the amcunt of wages he paid during the
year, bills of éli kinds, his expenses of all kinde., That was
- my reason for aaiing or mentioning the income tax report in
any way, my only reason, -

Q Tow, Mr. Lewis, while it is-a fuct that a nan abe- not
have to file an incorme tax repcrt unless he has an income that
is taxable, 1@ it rot a fact that éhat‘ earieral schedule,s0-
called, for the Census of Nanuf:acturers for the year 1919, of

the Departwent of Commerce of the United States, muat be filled

out in any event? A That is right.
. MR, MARYEWICH: I ubject‘to that as 1nc0npotont.'
THE covRr: I will allow 1t. | ity
By TH® CfUR*: . ' ‘
Q Filled out by whom? A By the manufacturer, the owner
»of the husiness. |
Q If a man ig =~ manufucturer? A Vell, }; the eyes of

the Government he is one. Thers are a great uany wanufacturers .

in the eves of tha-Governmeht who w»oanld nat he conaiderad mama
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faoturers in the eyes of a layman. A man that uses sny new ma-

‘payment of (20 ¢ 10 or any money? A Bo, sir,

ing), for I asoume that this 1s the money that was handed to

ML g e A R S e g
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terial ihutooovar, 1n either altering, repairing or nsking of
garments, is oonaiderad for thia purpose a manufacturer, pro-
vided he dces five hundred dollars a year or nzorc of business. | - yﬁ&ﬂ-f
BY WR. BOTREE: | ' bt
Q FNow, Nr. Lewis, it is not part of your duty, or is 1t -

D

not, toactuaily 7111 ocui such a gerneral schedule for a ma,mfl.o‘t—;

urer? A ¥o, sir, b‘t I.wigh to & en;'thnt. Ve are not re-
quired by the Goverﬁment to £fill cut 2 schedule unless we 80 de-
8ire.’

Q That is arnswered? £ Yes, siz.

Q Now, My, Lewis, iid you or dic yb:f nct threaten the
complairine wit;.es‘e Levin ';;ifh trouble if he iid not f111 out
the eo-called general schedule? -4 N, air.

Q Did you or did you not ask him ¢r azk any one for the
Q. And thse eircumstances unlar vhick that wonsy (Indicat-

you by the complai ing witnszs, under which that money came into

your possession, wera what? A I accepted the dill when I was
finished making cut his report, T accepted 1t i the way of a
gratulty. I had spent two hours of ay tims thaere, whereas ord-

inarily fifteen minutes would have been esufficlent tiue to have

spent to nake out the report. I wés not compelled or required

‘b the Govsrnaznt to do that, I was swg: osaed, in case & manu-

facturer, or in this inetance Nr. Levin did not rsceive one’of
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these blank reports by mail to £111 out, to leaws one of them
¥ith Ais sad oall for it agsin.

Q Fow, I ask you again, ur.vLewia,'Snd<I direct your!lt-
tention epecifically to the question, becsuse the complaining
vwitnela and ore or tro of the others stated that you did do.
it, whothér or not you asked from the complainant for the pay-
ment of ten dollarxs, for the paywert of twenty dollars, for
the payment of any money, meaning that particular bill and
the arcunt represented thereby? A No, sir, 1 51ﬂ not,

Q. When you were placed unierrarreat by Offinr Love, it
was where, in the conmplaining witneds's place of business or
élaewhere, A Ko, it was in Mr. chob-' store, next to the |
conplaining witness's place of buziness, next 400 L.

Q And what did you go into th2 next door place of business
for7 A I went in to get Nr. Jacobe'! report. '

Q And what happensed in there with respect to your srr;lt?

A When I enter=d ¥r. Jnﬁobs' store I met Detective Love, and

" an officer in unifcwn, Detective Lovs aék=5 e who I wan, I
shored hinm my 1@entif101tion and he asked mze what my dbusiness
wes. 1 shoved him a.achedule and said I wag in the Department
of Correrxce, Bureau'of Census, taking = census of all manufactur-
ers. He snld, "Phis zan olaine that &ou rerresent yourself as

2 revenue officer.” So I laughed at hiz and I said, "Inpos-
sible, how could’I reyreeent nwyself as a révonuo éffiber'uftor
shbwing hin my idantifioat@cn which & child could read and also

2 blank schadule?" "Well," he said, "this man claims that you




forced him to Pay you money, $20 - or §10," - I have tor.tﬂ
which he -ua. ‘that I had demanded from him, and I said, 'lo

such thing.”™ He said, 'Do you make any charge, are you en- '
R A e -
titled to any fee for making out these reports?® I said, "Ne, e
v SR 3 E X“J‘ ’
sir.® "Well," then he said, "well, complaint has been made - h’

so T will have to take you to the station house,” and I willing-
ly 2ccorpaniad him. A

f Were you seapched at that place of business? A I was
.'not. : |

Q VWhers were vou searched, if esarched you were? A At
the station house. | |

Q Thers wes the bill which had been handed to you fifit
produced or exhibited? A In'my left hand trocusers pocket.

Q Fo, I asen in $he store of Lavia oF Jaccbs or at the
etation house? A In the station haﬁse. |

Q Where was the badge, meaning that badge there, (People's
Exhibit i) firet produced or exhibited after you were arrested?
A In the atation houag.

 Q Now, that monay, meaning th&f bill, Paorle's Exhibig,

ard that badge, meaning Peorle's Exhibit, were both of them in
your possession from the i.natant you were placed in fhe hands
~of the law until you were escorted into the station house?
A Yeas, sir. w* |

'Q) VWere you handouffed? A ﬂo, sir.

'Q Your hands were free? A Entirely.

Q And you went willingly with your captor, the policemant?



A Yes, sir.

'Q Was there o_pporhuﬁty and could you have availed your-
self therdof to lose either the badge or bill on the way be-
tween the store orxr place of business and the station house?

A Plenty of them,
- MR, MARKBWICH: I‘object to that, your Honor.
- THE COURT: Objection sustained. That 0311; for a
conolusion, How can he tell that?
KR, BOURZ®: Very wéll, your Honor.,

 Q Now, Mr. Lewis, what is the cfficial desiznation by
vhich you in your representative position or capacity were kﬂown
on the 8th day of July-of this year, ir your couneqtion with the
United Statee Governm;nt and its Department of Census of Manu-
f&ctufers? A Speocial Agent, Department'cf Connercé. Bur-au of
Censga.‘»

Q That is a little too fast, I did not understand 1t?

A Special Ageut for the Departuent of Comrerce, Bureau of Cenmus.

I would say Bureau of Census of Hanufacturers.

Q Now, in preparing this repcrt, 4o no* the duties of your
office requirs of you the necessity of preparing the same 1if
you do prepdre it, confidentially, and nct publicly? A Yes,
confidentially.

Q RNow, 1n.mak1ng the inguiries necesssry to prepare the
same, or to aid and assist in its prepapation, ﬁid or did you
not ask of this mwan Levin to be private with.him and with none

other about? A I did.

v
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Q And whet did be then do or sy with respeot to your re-
quest? A He ordered the young man who testified here, Mr.
Martin, is that the name?-to leave the store.

~ Q Was it one of those young men who waﬁ presert at the ;
time? A Yes. | T T A
' Q Did that young man depart from the store? A He did. |

Q lMeaning Levin's place of business? l Yes, sir,

Q Do you know wheth&r he returned thereafter to the place
of business while you were still thers? A If he did he oame
in the back way. I didn't see him.

Q Well, so far as you know did you comply with the reqﬁlr.-
ments of your position in making these scheduleg, confidgnti&l;
ly and privately with the pgrty, meaning Levin? Au I daiqd.

THE COURT: I think we will.pake a recess now, Mr,

Bourke. |

Gentiemen, please do not form or express any opinion
as to the dafendant'i guilt or innocence until the case 1is

~finally submitted %o you, ::? during recess please do noti

discuss the case with anvbody or allow anybody to opéak to
you about it. |
(Mr. Bourke now confers with the Court and Mr. Marke-
wich).
| THE COURY: Well, gentlemen, counsel for the defendant
has brgaght to uy attention certain matters in which he }.
engagad, and upon consent of the Distriot Attorney I wili

adjourn this case until Wednesday morning, instead of to-
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mmi morning. 8o you are excused until lodxiudsy O e
ing until ten o'clock, and please keep in mind the admoni-

tion I have just given ‘you.

(The Court thereupon adjourned the further trisl of : ¥
the case until Wednesday, August 11, 1930, at 10:00 o'clock
Ao "o)o




morrow moming. S0 you are excused until Wednesday BOTD=
ing until ten o'clock, and please keep in mind the admoni-

tion I have just given you. _ : ,{ : s-iu, .

(The Court thereupon adjourned the further trial of g v w‘
the case until Wednesday, August 11, 1920, at 10:00 o'clock ‘
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= ’ loy York, An;n.t 1lth, 1820,
FRANCIS' L., LEWIS, the defendant, resumes fho
witness-stand.

MR, BOUREF: May I ask the Court that the testimony
of this witness be read_ovef?

THE COURT: No, we cannot read all hiefestimony ovnr;
as the case has take% too longvnow. The stenographer may
repeat the lasé few questions and “nswers.

(Thevetenogr;pher repeats the testimony as directed).

DIRFCT TXAMINATION BY ¥R, BOUREE (Continued):

Q‘ Mr. Lewis, there iaé sorme talk abouta pi;oe of fur that
you s;oke cqnoe:ninglwith.one of the preceding witne‘iol, 1
think it was this man Letin. ¥ill you state what was said by
and between ycu, if anything, regarding that? A I epoké to

Mr. Jacobs regarding the “ur. Mr. Jacobs was the furrier. I

-asked him what he had on hand or already made up 1h the way of

a small neckpiece. A friend of mine asked me that in case I

ran across anything in the way of a bargain to pick it up for

hir or at least let him know about it, as he wished to make his -

wife a Christmas present and he wanted BOmething.in,a very small
neckpiece, in fur. I asked him what he had in stock, alréldj

made up or to be mﬁde up. He saild at‘VHe time he had nothing

'made up, but he had some skins to be made up and would show

them to ne when I got back to his astore.

BY THE COURT:
9 What did you ask hir that for? A As I say, a friend

WilRE

o o . "



of mine wished to make a present to hie wife.

By ¥R, BOTRXT:
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Q Well, what were you asking him about the fur for? Did
you want % buy it of hil'or what? A 1 wanted to buy 1it, yes, _ a,»;af,”'
I wanted to get an idea of the price it would cost, either rade ﬁ '”H?ji

up or to be made up.

Q Wes there any other motive in your asking hi: about
such piece cof fur than that which his fonor just inquired con-
cerning? A Not at all,

Q Bbw, ﬁr. Lewls, you have told us how you came into pos-
seseicn that day éf that strange badge of a Deputy Sheriff of
Richmond County? A Yas,

Q I suppose ycu nade ne erfcrt to find cut, from the time
you discovered 1% until this whole thing was over with, as to
whom the badge belonged? A Wsll, iyhad not had the bldgo:in
Ry possceeion more than a few moments.

Q More than what? A Than &lfew moments, before I first

met Mr. Jacchbs. I picked 1t vp on the corner before I reached

his store, probably thrse or four minutes I had it in my pos-
oeggion. |

Q  Did you shov, exhibit or offer that badge to Levin, the
copplaining witnesgs, and if so, urder what circu‘at‘nceo,'and
what if anything was siii by you councerning your possession of
that badge to him? A Y¥ell, as'I said, I icked the badge up
on the corner of 102nd street and Eroadway, Just as I was step~

ping from the street to the sidewalk, lying in the gutter, it
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was. I putrif’in my left hand coat pocket where I generally
carried my package of cigarettes, 'Durtng my conversation with
Mr. Jacobs, at least as soon as I met him, you might say, I sat

down with him and.I immediately reached my hand in my pocket

" to get a cigarette and offered him one, and the badge came out

with this package of cigarettes, and I think I threw it down
on his de.k‘or the little table that he used as a desk in his
place of buasiness. | Then I put the badge back in my pocket,
and as far as I can remember, I don't think that Mr. Levin ever
saw that badge. I don't remember of him seeing it.

Q That is the complaining witheil in this case? A Yes.

Q Did you show or exhibit the badge to any one of the wit-

' nesses for the Prosecution, with the intent or motive or purpose

to 1ntim1d§te, to frighten or to put hi: or any of them in
fear? A No, hardly, no. After showing my identification and
theAblank schedule, which most any one could uﬁderatand who
could read and'write;'they would underetand what I represented,
and it would not do very wwll for me to show a badge or any-.
thing, or show a badge of that sort of any kind uniess it was
a badge of ay office. |

Q It was stated by one or more-of the witnesses that you

‘sald sowething about rmoney, in»rqlpect to either preparation

or the preparation by Levin of a report for the census of the
U. 8. manufactuierl. What was said if anything by you respect-

1ng»monex in that connection? A The only mention of money

madé or any expense attached to making out a report of any kind
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was when I asked him if he had made out an income tax report,

and he said "FNo." Well, I said in moreof a jokiig wtj than

anything eilo,.'tgu saved twenty or twenty-five dollars, didn':

you " He said, 'Boy do you mean?" Or I think he laid, o
didn't have to make out one," and I said, "Well, if you had
made out a report you ﬂo doubt would have been unable to make
that report yourself and would have had to engage an account-
Ant,"which_a great many of those small munufacturing;eltablllh-
mente héd to do, especially thocse that did not employ aAbook-
leefer, and that was the only mention made of money or payment
of money in any way, shape or form,

Q Having discovered an individusl whé had not made a re-
port, which was then and there smade yp was 1t inocuxbent upon

you and & necessary part of ybur official duties tc prepare or

‘even to assist him, unless you s0 desired, in the preparation

of that report? A No, sir. We were not required to fill out
or make out a couplete ;eport for any one. |

Q Your duty thereafter, if strictly construed and lived
up to,would have been only to report the name, address and
identity of that party who had failed to report? A In a great
mﬁny cases reports were made out by manﬁfucturers and mailed
in to our office, probably two or three nmonths before the time --
BY THF COURT:

Q WNo, the question is this: If these two people, that is,

the furrier and this tailor had ndtvsent their reports in, it

would have béon'only your duty to have reported them to your

HANE




sir, 1t would -
be my duty to leave them a blank or schedule and ask them to

 superiors that they had failed to do so? A No,

£111 it out, or to have it filled out, and I would either call

. e
for it agaln the next day or in the next two or three days. ; ‘Qlfﬁfﬁaﬂ
d Q Well, if they did not fill it out then it was your duty o o

to report them? A Yes, sir. They are required by law to
£111 it out. | |
ln; BOURKE: I think thaﬁ is all at this time.

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR, uAaKtvICH:

Q How o0ld are you? A TForty-two.

Q How long have you been employéd in the Oenbuo Daplft—
ment? A 8Sinoce Decerber, the 18th of December. 1919;'

Q Is this just a special appointment? A " A special ap-
pointmeni. = |

Q A tenpor#ry Appointmént? A Just tempérary.

‘Q Well, while the census is being taken? A Tbaf'l all.

Q Did you ever hold any other rosition? A By the.Gova
ernment? | |

Q Yes? A Except during the war I was in the Quarter-

master's Department..

Q Well, outside of that did you hold any other position?
A Not for the Government, h 2

Q What was your occupation before you entered thq Quarter-
master's Department? A I was employed for a whilevdoing war
‘wo;k by the American Can Coﬁpnni;at Edgewater, New Jersey.
= : Q VWhat kind_of work was that? A That was as 1n-pector;

inspactine what thav called threa-inch shells. shrankel. shella.
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Then I afterwards —-
Q Well, what experience did you have in that? A Exper-

1ence?

! e ":"‘, 7\.

Q Yes, in the inspection of shells? A I was inspector. K %?fj;gze
That was my title, to inspsct shells, see 1f they were msda'ﬁp ‘ 753§gfii
properly. ~‘,'
'Q 'what experience did jcu have in that 1ine, did you know :

anything about shells or powder? A Prior to my going in?
Q Yes, the manufacture of war implements? A I don't
understanrd you, I don't quite understand you.

'Q I say, wh®%t was the experience you hed before you entered
the Quartermaster's Department, or before you entered with that
firm you were working for? " A The American Can Company, exper-
ience in muni tions?

Q Yes, with shells? A I had no experience, It was not
required. |

Q You were recommended to all those positions, weren't
you? A No,’we'anawered - they adverfised‘in the parers fgr in-

spectors., If you will allow me to finish, after that --

Q@ No, what rosition did you have hefore you became in-
spector? A I was in the employ of Joseph P. Day, in the real
estate business, I was in the pfiblicity departrent, genemal ad-
vertising for nine yeais. | ‘

Q What kind of work did you do there? A ‘Ger.er_a.l advertis-
ing, assisting 15 the publicity work, outside work montly.‘

Q What publicity work did you do? A VWell, chiefly on

‘his lot sales during the apring and summer and fall months. I



was what they call cutside pﬁbltctiy isn. roptn-onilng fio”fliiu

E | , at the property and oeelng prospective buyers where different
lots were 8ituated, and so forth.
| Q2 You were a solicitor, in other words, or a salesman for °

Day? A Not solicitor and not salesman. There is nothing sold ?{?f;$
until the day of the auoction sales.. k : 4

Q Just for auction sales or private sales as well? A No,
I had very 1ittle to 4o with any private salea.

Q You ware with him nine years? A  Nine years, .

Q What was the salary ycu were receiving? A Well, we
vere at times what they would call on turn-over sales. After
an auction sale was held they would sonetimee, not in all cases,
would leave three or four of us on the property, on what they
term turn-over rﬁ-sale of lots from the party who.bought it at
auction to an outside party. In that case conrission was al- -
lowed us.

Q Dia you'leava the employ cr were vou discharged? A I
left hie empley to go info wvar vork &t the beginniﬁg of the

vag. I was not acceptable to the army ir sany branch on ac-

count of the defect -~

Q Are you permitted to accept o gratdlty in comnection
wvith your work és census taker? A There 1b.nothlng~1n the
book pf instructions stating that we are not allowed to recelve
anything inlthat way. |

Q Hawve you received any other tips? A Yes, sir.

Q Quite & number? A Well, quite & few, I shovld sa y,

Ll
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formation from the un, say on &xnday or at niu:t.
Q !ou thought it was perfectly prop.r. did you? A Yes, 1
bolieve it ia recognized.

Q For a public official to accept tips for official work

. done? A VWell, I was doing work that I was not really required

to do, and by doing that extra work it was really on my own
hook, as you mighﬁ 81y. '

Q lail, it was speclial work that you did, was it? A Not
altogether, no, sir. ‘

Q Well, you were not doing anything for yourself there,
were youl? A VWell, i was using my own tiie tc do that. I was
helping a man out in ny leisurg_time, tuking my own time to help
him, |

Q You were paid, weren't you, by the Governﬁent? A Well,
we were paid according to the number of schedules we received
of the schedules, and we were suﬁposed, we éach had a quota
of schednle; to turn in every day. |

Q What was your quota? A Fouf a day. What they call
;cceptable schedules. ' A

Q Four schedules a day? A Yas; sir. Some days we would
not get one. '

' would

Q So that,what time, it takeyou to prepare one of these

schedules? A That all depended upon the way the books were

kept in the establishment we visited. In a large establishment

where books were kept in proper condition, a schedule such as
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this wes of his could be filled out in fifteen or twenty mimit-s,
but in cases-- . | ‘ |
Q What were youvbaid pér schedule by the Government? A We .
were paid a dollar and a half on some and a dollar on others.
" Q And you were supposed to report'fof duty when? A At | t.ff?;
the office? i
Q Yes? A There was no time, no stipulated time to report
for duty except that we were to be &t thé_cffice at one o'clock
cvery.Saturdaj. The balance f the week if we wished - we made
a daily report by mail, a written report, but we were not re-
quired to report at the cffice unless we wished, for instance,
to cbtain sowe more supplicse, or sonethiné like that, or g.e‘t'n":_
informaticn, until Saturdays, Tre balance 6r°the week was in.
fact our own.
Q Isn't 1t a fact thﬁf it 1s forbidden for ; public offio—
1al, wvhether he is doing special work or régular otttoial
work, to acce[t any fee or gratulty?

MR, BOURYE: I object as incompetent, immaterial and

irrelevant., This witrnesse kncwe - it hae not been choin
that he knows whether there is or not.,.
THE COURT: VWell, I understand he has already answered
the question. If he knows he may say.
A Do you want me to answer that?
Q Yes? A Well; W afe not allowed to charge, no} sir,
but as I say, when I use ny owr time.

Q  Don't you call that a charge, wher you get & tip, isn't
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ﬁn‘mﬂtor'u‘r' for uytnc that you are p‘t:d tcrlit"?‘ mg u" | _. v :
you call that?! A I would term it a grttutty. ' :
Q A gratulity? A A gratuity. 4 3{1,;f
Q - Well, call it what you will. You considered it was per- _  7,ﬁ}:[
L 2 fectly proper for you to receive it? A I did, yes, if I used | 'V”J;é
my own time, :
Q But you were working at that time for the Government,
you were beipg paid by the Government? A Ve were not paid ac-
cording to time, We were paid according to the number of sched-
ules we turned in.. .
| Q You were supposed to go out and got schedules? A !oo.
Q !ou were allotted four a dayr A, Yes.
Q And you were nuppoaed to bring in four a day? A Yes,
}n order to hold my poaitioh.
Q In other werds, you were paid a dollar and a half,'and
if you brought in fcour a dsy it would be 8ix dollars, and you
worked aix'day- & week? A Five days and 4 half a week.
. Q Yet you say you were working oa your own time? A Some

of the time, yes, sir, I would work at aights. I would work

Sundays and holidays or Saturday afternoons. That was my own
time. If I did not succeed in getting wmy apéciflcd nuzber of
schedules, I would naturally have to put in that much more time,
and being handicapped by fhis bad foot and leg, it waﬁlhlrd to
get arouhd and I had to be on the job all the ‘time.

. Q Well, that is all right, we have heard about your bad

leg before’ A There were no certain numwber of hours we were

S
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supposed to work.
| Q How many people did you visit on the day in question
before you went to_Jioobl and Levin's store? A VWell, I had f-f ﬁ:;
been up, I believe, to three places that I had called at, I was ;
to call later, because the bookkeeper or proprietor was not in,
snd naturally I could not get the 1ntoristion, aﬁd I would have
to go bick for thp- later in the afternoon.
Q ﬁ&s that a district that was assigned to you? A Yes,
sir. E
Q And it took irr what territory? A Well, during this
¢lean up work I was doing at thie time, it was what they ocall
3 ¢lean up., The goferil work had been finished, we were merely
cleaning up the districts, odds and ends you might say. I had
“two districts to attend to in the élean up work, from 72nd up
to ilBth street.
Q Vhat was the extent of the district? A From 73nd up
to 116th street, from Fifth awme to Broadway, loationd dis~

trict.

Q Your business was to visit manufacturers only? A Manu-
faoturer"only.

Q Did you consider a cleaning and dyeing establishment &
f.cf§ry? A "If they did dyeing, yes, sir. In the eyes of
the Government for this purpose they a re manufacturers.

Q Did you see any dyeing machinery in his plabo? o loq I
didn't take any report'fbr his dyoiné buqinoa.. I took a'report

for his tajiloring business only.
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;“Q~ lbvian just doing -gnﬁlng'thore. issn!t he? A Fo, he
told me he made hp new garments and used nef naterili in that
work.

| Q Did you see any material theres A I had to take hise : 3{“ﬁv;;-
word for it. < i ﬁ‘kzi
| Q@ Vell, it was only a suanll store? Did‘you lock around?
bid you see any material therey A That was not our business.
We were not sent to investigate & man. In some caeél we had.
cards, in case a man had gen & report of his business five
years ago we would h;ve a c*rd to show that. In other cases
we had a card with his nare and address on it #nd the nature of
his business, which information wais gained from either ;ﬁe city
directory or telephonévbook, or different ﬁlaoel, Bradstreet's
or Dun's, or in the case of a cigar manmufacturer, from tbe.In-
ternal Revenue office, and we were séut with these cards to
visit the man whose nane appeared upon it, In other cases we
had n§ cards, but if we fouhd what they call an unlisted man-
ufacturer we weré auppbsed to ¢call in and obtain his report

and fill out a blank card curselves. We were supposed to fill

ou& the blank cérd and return ihat wvith our report.

Q Jacobs was the firat place you had visited that day?
A ¥o, sir, I had been to three other places. |

Q Vhat places wgre,they, do you recall? A A baker on
the corner of 110th stfeet ard Broadway .

Q Did you prepare a schedule for him? A No, I hadv4

left a schedule and was tc return later and get it.



Q ma you prepars a schedule for any ono that lonlngt
A Not -that day, no. sir.

Q@ The day before how many did you wvisit?

| i A It would be

pretty hard for me to tell just right now.

Q Well, had yoﬁ recéived any tips the day before? A Well,

I souldn®’t anagwar th-t,

Q Did you recalive any tips during that week?

KR, BOUrkE: I object as incompetent, immatsrial

and irrelevant, and having no relevancy or materiality.

OCbjection overruled. Exception,

A I really couldn't answer that.

I did or not, ‘Somqtiaes & tip would be merely a doliar or two
dollars. In tuls case I thought it was not more than a dollar

or two dollars,

Q You did rot even look at the

the bill. I just eieply prut 1t in my pocket and finished my

report.

Q

Can you tell the Gentlemen of the Jury wshat your idea

was in telling this wan that he had saved twenty or twenty-five

dollars by not filing =

incore tax report? A As I said, when

he stated that he had not made any income tax report for 1919

I said, "Yell, ycu saved twenty or ty-five dollars, didn't

you?™ more in & joking way tharn anything else¢, If I may be per-

mitted to aay it, my idea in asking if he made out an income

A

tax raport wo 8 to ohtain infornatiun..

] Q Well, that would Iacilittte matterl? A It would to a

great extent, ves,

I can't recember whether

» bill? A I didn't loock at
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Q But he told you he did not file any income tax statement,
and did not have to? Then what was your idea in telling him he
saved money? A VWell, as I say, that was my only idea, in a
Joking way, because I knew, I could tell #$rom his conversation “‘Frg;
that he would not be able to make out an income tax iaport, that i
'a; all.

Q You knew that from the conversation you had with him?

A Why, yes. When he saw my report, when he looked at it he
threw up both hands., He wouldn't know how to start to make that
out, and the income tax report is much mo re complicated than |
this one.

Q WVell, what was yourAideu in telling this man that you
had this Sheriff's badge? A As I say, I took the badge out
of my pocket with my cigarette, unconsciously. I threw it on
the desk and I said, "I just picked that up on the corner just
before I got here.® .

BY THE COURT: |

Q Where was it you found this badge? A 103nd street and

Brogdway.

Q Whereabouts? A In the gutter, just as ‘I was stapping
from the street to the sidewalk.

Q At 102nd street andi what? A And Broadway.

Q Lying in the gutter? A Lyiné'in the gutter, yes, sir.
‘T@pre ;au»s coal wagon passing at the time and I-am sure fho

driver #aw me pick it up but I wouldn't know who it was.

) BY MR. MARKEWICEH:

Q You are sure the driver saw you pick it up? A I am



certain he did, yes.

Q And you put that badge in your pocket? A I put it in
my ocoat pocket.

Q You fouhd it that very morning --

BY THE COURT: _ = :

Q Why did you put it in your ﬁockett A I naturally put {
it in my pocket. 1 don't know aﬂy reasonlwhy I lhould'hgva kopf
it, it was no use to me for anything.

BY ¥MR. MARKEWICH:

Q You found it in the mud gutter? A Yes, sir.

Q ‘Was 1t in the same condition as it is now? A Well, it
was dirty, I presume, from the street. Yes, naturtlli there
would be some dirt on it.

Q And it was juﬁt by accident that you happened to take
it out of your pocket? A Just by accident, as I had 1t‘1n my
same pckef with the cigarettes.

Q It could not be separated from fie cigarettes? You had

the cigarettes in a paper box? A No, I had them irn a paper

package, "Camel's," they were.

Q Thie did not stick to the package, did 1t? A It came
out with the cigarettes. |

Q It was not in fhe‘paokago, was it7 A No.

Q There was not any gdue on the badge or on the package,
fal ihere?v J Hdt thst‘I knov of.

BY THE COURT:
Q Do you know anybody in the Sheriff's office in Richmond

¥ v



County? A I do not.

Q Did you ever live in Richmond County? A No, I did not. '

Q ‘Do you know anybody in that place? A Yo, sir, I do not. ;;;}:;;;"”
g r ; ,-‘ ] p.
BY MR. MARKEWICH: , ' S <1
- - y ‘ .“,‘ ':” 4 &
= . Q Have you ever lived in Richmond County? A No, sir. igNey

Q Where did you live at the time of this toou'rron'oe?
A. Where was I living? |

Q Yes? A 159 Vest 97th street, between Columbus and
Amsterdam avenues, '

Q How long have you lived there? A I was there about seven
‘months. _

Q Where did you live Before that time? A I lived on 96 th
street between Columbue and Amsterdam aven:es, weli,'ovar a y.ui;

Q Whers before that? A I lived at 1525 Am;terdan avenue,

135th street and Amsterdam avemue.

L.

“ite,

Q Have you lived in New York County all your life? A No,
about twenty years, I guess.

Q I do not suppose you ever visited Staten Island at ali?

A Oh, I visited it, yes.
Q. What was the occasion of your going there? A My mothe

at one time lived there. She had a boardfng house there.

-

Q How long ago was that? A That, well, I guess five
years ago since she has been there. |
Q ‘*hen w;: the last time you vieited_hor? A I used to go
- down for a day or so.

'Q When was the last time vou visited her? A A% Staten
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; Island?

Q Yes? 4 Juaf before she broke up her house and came

to the oity to 1live. S, ;;{ix;ﬁ'

3 ' Fomf MR 5

Q About five years ago? A I thirk 1t is five years ago, ..

. ‘ h B j'l-:'
' I am not sure. TA R

Q That was about 19157 A VYes, it was during the war, I
think.she left there. During the beginning of the war that she
left down there.

Q Do you knew anybedy out in Sﬁqten Ieland outside étyanr
.zother? A Really I can't say that I knov s soul ocuteide of
the pecple fhét lived with:her. boarded with her, athleaat in
her hcueé there. | |
BY TFE éOUFT:

Q Did you go inte Levin's place first or Jacobi' rlace
first? A Jaccbs' rlace first.

Q That did you do in Jacobs' place? A I was talking
with hix regarding nie report,

Q Did you write out a report for hiz? A I had not start-

ed. I wae juet geihg to start to wher Mr. Levin came.in.

Q Then why did you leave Jacobs' and go into Levin's?
A Well, ¥r. Jacobs i belicve, ﬁrzf;ct I ar sure, said he wuuld
look up some of his bills. Ho hed rot been in business but a
few months, during 191¢, '

Ql Jacobs eaye yéu asked him for roney and he r:2fused to
give 1t? A The only mention of meney, vour Homor, was when I

said he had saved twenty or twenty-five dollarxs by not‘hgving



an accountant to make out his income tax npo:t That's the
only time money was lontibnod...nd it is either a misunderstand-
ing on theu- psrt or some scheme to railroad me. I can't un-
dorltand anything else. .

Q What did you say to Jacobs about money? Not to Levin
but to Jacobs? A When he said he did not make out an income
tax report I said in a joking way —- V

Q'». I thought that was Levin, the complainant you said that
to? A Oh, to Jacobs?
Q I am talking about the furrier now, Jacobs, he says that

you asked him for money and he would not giwe it to you, and it

wae because of that that you left him and went into Levin's.

Now, what did you do in Jacobs' place and how did you come to
leave his nlace? A Well, when Levin came into Jacobs' store he
asked me or he acked Jacobs --

Q No, what did you say to Jacobs? I am talking about what

‘'you said to Jacobs? A Regarding money, your Honor?

Q Everything you said to Jacéb- when you went in there?
A Nothing except aﬁout hie income tax report, that he had saved
on his income tax report. |

Q D;d you say that to Jacbbs as well as to quinf A To
both of them. I said to Levina fterwards, "Why, you saved
twe nty or twonty—fivo dollars.” I said that to him toé.

Q You said it to both of them? A Yss, sir.

Q Did you ask Jacobs to make out one of théno schedules?

A Yes, sir.
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Q Did you leave a ‘schedule with him? .A I was goi.n; go
leave it mn Mr, Levin came in. :

Q Well, why did you drop Jacobs and take up Levin? A B.-
cause Mr. Jacobs was going to look up his bills. He had only e ar
started in business at the beginning of September, 1919, and to S
see if he coﬁldn't give me the correct figures., We were supposed |

té get the correct figuree off a man had boo?ks or bills or accoun®s
of any kiﬁd. We were surpceed to get them.

' Q You did not say arything to Jacobs about his making out
his income tax report, e xcept to sa.y that he had saved twenty or
twarty-fivp do;lare? Al aeked him if he had mﬁde out an 1noonov
tax report. |

Q Jacobs says when hé»refused to give you money you asked
him for sore fur? A Yes, sir, I did not ask for any money.

Now, the.only mention of fﬁr w28 that I asked him what he had
in stock and on hand or made up or'to‘be made up in the way of
a lméll.fur ngdkpiece, as a friend of mine asked me to see Af

I could get it for his wife for a Christmas present.

Q What is the name of that friend? A Now, his name - I

can give you his address. I could produce it by sending for one.
Q@ Do you know his name? .A Fell, he ie the head waiter

in Shanley’é restaurant, so I understand, he is uptown. I

couldn't say - I have heard his name, but I couldn't remember,

I wouldn't want to say for surs.

BY MR, MARKEWICH:

Q ' Dpid you go to a saloon with one of them? A Yes, with

Jacobhs.
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~ Q What was the idea of your going to a saloon? Did you
gb to disouss official business in a saloon? A No, to sit down

for a few minutes, as his store was being cleaned up or ropaiied

or something. There was no other idea thm to get a glass of Sg‘f%;
e beer or ginger ale or something Iike that. 5:5';;
Q You do not really mean to say that you went into a g
saloon to get one-half per cent beer at the time? A Well, may-
be we fook a little drink of some sort.
L Q As a matter of fact, didn't you sit down and talk about

money ther~ with him? A About money, no, sir, not at all,
While we were in this place I brouzht up the subject of the fur
bﬁsinges. yes, I will say thag, yes, sir.

Q And it occurred to you then, you asked him as to whether
he had a piece of fur finished? A Yes.
| Q Fora ffiend of yours who wanted to buy 1t? A Yes, I
had inquired of other people regarding the same thing.

Q Who was that friend of yours you wanted to buy the piece
of fur for? A As‘I pay, I can't remerber the name, but I am

sure I could proiuce the man if T had time. I am not sure of

his last name, If I thbught that wae neceseary I could get it.

Q You did not_interd to hint that you wantgd a piece of ﬂnr.
for youraelf? A No, sir, I told him, we'under:tood clearly what
I wanted the fur for. I sald.a friend of mine who couldn't af-
ford to pay.a big price would like a small piece of Tur that 10.
good, and he ~antéd it go&d.

Q Now, in following your 1ine of 3duty you had occasion to
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' 1n~d;fforont manufacturing enterprises? A Well, I had only a
few furriers in my district, but I had no clothing or jewelry
people. I was not fortunate enough to have a good diltriot. B oo e
¥ Q You were not fortunate enough to have a good distriot? . ﬂ‘:}il
A No. 1In some districts a man could go in one building and get |
‘& dogen reports, but my district was scattered and required a’
great deal of walking.
QA Pid you ask anybody else for any fuf prior to that time?
A I had inquired the prices of fur of several different people,
yes. ‘
Q Whom did you visit? A If I gave you the address - I
could give you the location now, on Broadway. ‘

MR, BOUREKE: I object to thie =s incompeteﬁt, imma—
terial and irrelevant. I dec not see what pertinancy it
has to thé case.

Objéction overruled. Exémption.

A (Continuing) If I remenber ri“hf, there is one man on

Broadway, on the east 3ide of Broadway, I think his name ie

Kupferman, (Spelling), K-u-p-f-@-r-r-sa-n, between 8lst and 53nd

on the east side.

Q When was that{ A That w=s not more than a week befor;
this trouble héppencd,

Q During that'entiré week, you could not‘find a piece of
fur for your friend? A Oh, I fouﬁd seva:ﬁl pieces, yes, but

L

I was trying to get the cheapest pieée I could. Nearly all of

'
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them had something made up or on hand, but I was looking around
for the cheapest piece I could find in the way of & 'good pioo‘o. 5

small piece,. = | .,V:}g;_
Q Now, you told us that you wanted to speak to Levin alone & :"’"ﬁ'::‘: |
when making up the schedule? A Yes, this schedule is confid-  :f£g

ehtial. We are under oash not to diwvilge any infornation given
us by manufacturers. |

Q - Well, that binds you only? A Yes.

Q There 1s nothing in the law that binde the man making out
the statement™ A Well, while I am making out a report there
is no one supposed to be present to overhear any information
given me by a man ;bout his business. |

Q Well, if the man chooses to have a friend along with him,
do you know of anything in the law which prohibits that? A Well,
outside of the fact that we receive special instructions from
" our chiefspecial agent that this ies strictly confidential.

Q Well, you underotobd that to mean that it is cont;dentiul

as far as the Govarnmdnt offiocial is concerned, that the report

you take\/ from the man is confidentiﬁl, th=t lyou are not allowed
to divulée it, nor any other Govemment official, that is what
you underltooi to ée the law, isn't that so? A I undersetood it
— confideritig.,l,. Shat Bite T vas Mkine AHAY. Denith we

Q Did you understand thgt'it was confidential on the part
of the manufscturer? A I didn't understand it in the way or

‘in the sense that we could stop a manufadturer from‘telling.

about his businela, no.
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Q What was yoh:'objeotlpn to having & friend of this man

in the ivoro_it the time of ming"out the schedule? A 'oli. = &

'ihlt was my only idea, it was a small etore and I expliineﬁ“ﬂ; S ; AT
Lovin that it was strictly confidantialyand no one was supposed Eﬂigkfj
to be present at thé'time of making out the schedule unless it | ~%é§}EH;

wﬁl a member of the firm or an empldye.

Q You never met Levin or Jacobs ﬁntil that day? A No, sir,.
though I passed the place of business a hundred t;&el.

Q What did you mean by'eaying Just a few minutes ago that
perhaps they were tr&ing to rallroad you? What did yoﬁ pcaﬁ
by that statement? Do you know any reason why they should try
to do that? A Why; I know of no reason. That is what pussles
me, yes, 8ir. There is no reason that I know of,

Q All right, that is all. A To ﬁeraonal reason, I had
never met either one of those men before.
-RE—DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR. BOURKE:

'Q Mr. Lewis, coming right down to .the actual fact in this
case, or otherwise, with respect to that wonsy, was anything

said when that roney was proffered to you, as to its gmount?

A No, sir.
' Q And when it wae proferred to you, it was proferred to
you by whom? A MNr. Levin,

Q And did he hand it to you, put it in your clothing‘of
vhat? 'Bpw did he hand it, and what 4id he s;y regarding it?
A He handed it to me, I took 1%, crumpled it up and put 1t in

ﬁy pocket, T didn't look at 1t, I thought it was not more than



¢ r'port. to put it in my large onv.lope when he handed it to I..‘

.' ‘money from Levin?

he said, "Is there any ctarge for you making out these reports?”

. I said, "No, eir."

L P

a oano of a-nm at tho -oot und I was stul toldm up I,'

I put it in my pooket. I didn't look at it. I didn't know the . |l A g
: o :".‘i‘;ﬂ";
amount until I reached the station house and when he said he R

gave me ten dollars I reached in my pocket and handed it out R
and I'oaid, "Here it is." I wae not searched for that money | | |
at the station house. I took it out myself and handed it to the
sergeant at the deek. I said, "Here is the biil, if it ie a‘tqn
dollar bill or anything else,‘hérg is the bill thaf man gaié
me.' I took it out of my tousers pocket and put it on the desk
in front of the nergoant.
BY TYE COURT: |
Q bid you tell the officer that you had not received any

A No, sir, 1 told'the officer that thereJ
was no charge connected with ny duties in obtaining these ie-

orts, no charge. He asked me if I charged him,
Q How did you happen to speak about the charge? A He asked

me if I charged him, if I demanded any noney from Mr. Levin, or

Q He 4id not ask fou 1; you had received any monoj? A No.
Q He never asked you that at all, whether you had gotten
sny money? A He asked me if I ﬁﬁd mnio'auy ¢harge.
' Q Did he ask you if you had got any woney? A»Npt that I
recall, your Honor; no. 'He siuply stad that Levin claimed that

I demanded money from him. Then he asked me if I nade any charge
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for making out the repott. | |
Q But he never asked you if you got any money? A I Ol-'t

recall that he did ask me. , St g
Q You never denied getting any? A No, sir, not in the " ;ﬁ;?;
: s T
station house, No, certainly not, I immediately produced the '-*wf{'

»noney that he gave me.

Q DNo, when you were first arrested, I mean, He says thlt‘
when the money was :ound, then you said you got it from Levin;
but he oﬁja when he first arrested you or spoke to you in
Jacobs' place,fthat then yoﬁ sald you had gotten no money at
all? A No, sif, I beg to differ with him. I did not say any-
‘thing like that, that I had received no ,money. I did not say
th;t. I slmply said that there was no charge comnected with
ny duties in makihg these reports -ut for these different people,
any'foe, as you might tem it.

Q Vhy didn't you tell the officer that you had gotten a
gratuity? A Well, I don't know why Ididn't say that. He im-

nodiateiy said, 'Well,'the man has made a charge against you and

I will have to take gou up to the station house.”™ I very willing
ly accompanied him because I thought there would not be anydiffic
‘ulty in explaining my side of the story. I did not hesitate a
moment in going with him,

Q@ All right. That is all.
BY );R. BURKE:

Q And with respect to either or both the badge and the

bill, either or both could have been lost or thrown away by . .



you? A 1"0'..‘

HANET |

MR, u_mmma: Now, I object to thlf, your nomr. s

THE COURT: Objection sustained. How can he tell (P
whether the officer would have seen it or not? That is a § % ke
conclueion on hie part. | el -f%ﬂ?

Q Tow, Mr. Lewis, a final question: Were you ever con~
victed of crime in your'life?’ A No, sir. Thie is my first
trouble. ‘

Q Yes, that is all, Mr. Lewis.

FANFIE 8. LAIRD, ca.lledanichlyawornuawlt-
ness on behalf of the defense, testified as follows:
(chidence: 614 West 136th street).
DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR, BOURZE:

Q Mrs. Laird, are you acquainted with the defendant,
Francis L. Lewis? A I am.

Q Do you know otrera that know the defendant Francis L.
Lewis? A "Yes. |

Q Have ybu heard his reputation for vemcity, truth, thar-

acter and 1ntegrity aiscussed by others? A VYes, I did, Mr.
Bourke. |
Q You have heard those discussed? A Yes.

Q And you know what that discussion wis and what is said

of him by others? A Yes.

Q With respect to those elements cf churacter? A Yes.
Q VWhat is his character fd: those, and his reputation,
good or bad? A Always been good.

Q Are you related to ,Fra.mii L. Lewis? A I am not.
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Q That is all, Mre. Leird, thank you. |
. ‘MR. MARKEWICH: That 1s all, I have no quoitionl.

MR, BOURKE: The defense rests, if your Honor please.

oon v
MR, MARKEWICH: The People rest, if your Honor please, g‘.iigi
- THE COURT: Very well. Go to the jury. : f:}g?

Mr. Bourke then summed up the case for the defense and

Mr. Markewich summed up the case for the People.

(The jury after several hours deliberation were unable
to agree and were discharged from further consideration of

the ocase).
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